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Awhi mai 
i Ahau
Awhi mai i ahau e taku tau
Hei awhi mutunga i taku tinana
Maringiringi noa nga roimata
To tira ki tawhiti, haere ra.

Kua papatau te ara mo to tira
I nga ope tautahi kei te pakanga,
E kore rawa ra he mutunga
O te aroha e pehi nei.

Ko taku wawata kia piri ano
O taua tinana i Waiapu,
Kei te hiki te manawa e tama e
Kia hoki mai koe ka tau ana.

This song was written by Henare 
Waitoa in 1940 for the wives and 
partners of soldiers who went to 
WW2. It was performed as an action 
song by Ngati Putaanga for a local 
kapa haka competition between 
the Whanau of Ngati Putaanga, 
Hinepare and Hinerupe ki Tikitiki. 
The competition was a fundraiser to  
assist soldiers overseas.

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT
DR APIRANA MAHUIKA

Tena tatau nga uri o Porourangi.  Tena hoki tatau i 
wo tatau tini aitua e whakangaro atu nei ki te po.

Tena ano hoki tatau i nga whakahaere o te wa, 
me te tumanako, ka aroha mai te wa ki a tatau me 
wo tatau tumanako mo te iwi, mo nga mokopuna 
hoki a Porourangi, haere ake nei.

Ko te “Hui-a-Tau” whakamutunga tenei a 
TRONP, a, ka riro nga mana katoa o TRONP ki 
te Runanganui.  Heoi ko tenei ripoata aku he 
whakahau i nga hua kua taea e TRONP me te iwi.

This is TRONP’s final Hui-a-Tau before 
handing over control and authority to Te 
Runanganui.  I wish to highlight some of the 
key achievements by TRONP for Ngati Porou.



1. Partnerships
Over the past 24 years TRONP has established a series of partnerships with Crown Agencies such as:

• Ministry of Education
• Ministry of the Environment
• Te Puni Kokiri
• Ministry of Justice
• Ministry of Housing
• Ministry of Dept of Social Welfare
• Ministry of Health
• Ministry of Fisheries
• Ministry of Science
• Ministry of Forests

During this period also, relationships have been established with:

• Massey University
• Waikato University

2. Meetings with Ministers
The key to our success in advanced partnerships and developments for Ngati Porou are the many positive 
relationships with past and current Government and their respective Ministers.  In particular:

a) Rt Hon. J Bolger – who as Prime Minister, enabled us to launch Ngati Porou Whanui Forests, in spite 
of the strong opposition by environmentalists and the like

b) The late Hon John Falloon – Minister of Forests who together with the Prime Minister was 100% 
behind the Ngati Porou Forestry project

c) Hon Winston Peters – for the return of Mt Hikurangi and the support he gave to TRONP’s Bill

d) Hon Koro Wetere – for his support when the case for Hikurangi was launched

e) Rt Hon Jenny Shipley – her support for a Truancy Officer for Ngati Porou which led to the 
appointment of John Manuel to this role

f) Hon Matt Rata – who was a great supporter of iwi initiatives over many years

g) Hon Nick Smith – in the return of Mt Hikurangi and his ongoing support to iwi and climate change 
issues

h) Rt Hon Helen Clark – for making it possible for Ngati Porou to explore its iwi Foreshore and Seabed, 
and of late the pursuit of our Treaty Claims directly with the Crown

i) Hon David Carter – his support for Ngati Porou initiatives in terms of Agriculture; Science and 
Economic developments.  This is ongoing

j) Rt Hon Dr Michael Cullen – without whose support and guidance we would not have achieved the 
salient points we wish to obtain in respect of our Foreshore and Seabed and Treaty Claims

k) Rt Hon John Key – Prime Minister – for his support in many iwi initiatives (including Ngati Porou) and 
for his style of leadership which makes him accessible to those seeking an audience with him

l) Hon Bill English – for his support for our Settlement Bill including support for what we are doing with 
Science

m) Hon Wayne Mapp – Minister of Science – with whom we met to talk about our Science programme

n) Hon Chris Finlayson for advancing our Settlement Bill together with our Foreshore and Seabed Bill.  I 
also appreciated his availability when needed

o) Hon Parekura Horomia – who was our iwi champion in the House and continues to be so going 
forward

p) Hon Tim Groser – Minister of Trade – who has been immensely supportive of what we do and what 
we wish to achieve for our people 
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TRONP BACKGROUND
TRONP was born out of a desire by the iwi to establish a body that will unite the people, provide political leadership for 
the people, and an entity that will promote education, retention of te reo, culture and lands; such a body would seek 
ways by which economic and commercial growth for the tribe could be achieved.

The concept for such a body arose out of the Hui Taumata set up by the Labour Government in October 1984 in 
Wellington, to enable iwi to discuss among themselves, the matter of economic development. This hui was attended 
by a very large number of people from almost all tribes throughout the country. Dr Koro Dewes and I attended and 
were asked to present papers at the conference. Both Koro and I were so impressed with the conference, and in 
particular, the success rate of those iwi with their own organisations, such as Trust Boards and the like, that they felt 
that some discussion would be appropriate within Ngati Porou to determine whether such a body for the tribe would 
be helpful in advancing the growth of the iwi going forward.

Dr Tamati Reedy, at the Department of Maori Affairs, called a meeting of Ngati Porou staff in his office to discuss the 
idea for the formation of a tribal body for Ngati Porou, for he too was very impressed with what other iwi with their 
own organizations had achieved for their people. Word came from his office to Marie Collier, then employed with 
the Department of Maori Affairs in Ruatoria, to contact myself and others to gauge our views on the suggested body/
organization. I, with the assistance of Marie and her work colleague Kate Walker, called a meeting on the 16th November 
1984 at Uepohatu to discuss the concept. Due to the excellent communications system adopted by Marie, Kate, and I, 
people from home and living away from home attended and the hall was packed.
It was decided that a steering Committee be established, and the role given to this committee was to:

• Call a Hui a Iwi, as soon as possible.
• Set an Agenda for the Hui a iwi.
• Arrange speakers for the conference.
• Record on file all discussions made at the Hui a iwi.

Sir H K Ngata subsequently withdrew both as a member and Chairman.  As a result I was then elected as Chairman 
to replace Sir H K Ngata.  Members were:

Kate Walker   Koro Dewes  Eru Reedy  Waldo Houia 
Donna Awatere  Tom Te Maro  Georgina Evans  Martin Kingi 
Waho Tibble   Wi Kuki Kaa  Charles Begg  Marie Collier 
Bob Kaa   Parekura Horomia

Each member funded their own costs and travel to participate in the tasks set for it, and this continue till 
the end of August 1985. It was a real commitment by this group to the responsibility given to them by the 
meeting. The Steering Committee met weekly to discuss the date for the hui a iwi, as well as the costs for this 
undertaking. Issues discussed were:

The return of Mt 
Hikurangi; an appropriate 
structure for Ngati Porou; 
health issues; tourism; 
farming; economic and 
commercial activities; 
te reo and tikanga ake o 
Ngati Porou; discussions 
on different kinds of 
structures for Ngati Porou.
The hui appointed a 
working party to work 
collaboratively with the 
Steering Committee in 
examining the various 
bodies that could be 
established for the tribe. 

In 1999 the legal title to Hikurangi was vested in the Runanga on behalf of Ngati Porou.
Pictured here, celebrating the historic agreement over the title of Mt Hikurangi at Utepohatu Marae, 

Ruatoria in June 2001, are: TRONP deputy chairman Selwyn Parata, Maori Land Court Judge Pat Savage, 
Ngati Porou kaumatua Tom Te Maro, deputy chief Maori Land Court Judge Wilson Issaac, TRONP chairman 

Api Mahuika and Maori Land Court Judge Caren Wickliffe.
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The Working Party again came under the chairmanship of myself.  Members were: 

Sir H K Ngata Whaimutu Dewes Charles Begg Eru Reedy
April Papuni Georgina Tattersfield  Jules Ferris Donna Awatere 
Robin Hayes Parekura Horomia Kate Walker Marie Collier 

Several visits were made by members of the Steering Committee to iwi with Trust Boards and likewise to consult with 
Ngati Porou living away from home. Meetings with Whakatohea, Te Arawa and others took place and reports on these 
matters were made to the August Hui a iwi at Ngata College in 1985. At the August 1985 Hui-a-Iwi the question of 
boundaries were debated and discussed. What transpired was the decision, based on tradition, and referred to in 
Ngata’s Rauru nui a Toi Lecture Series, as:

 “Mai i Potikirua ki te Toka a Taiau.”

1. Boundaries and Interim Trustees 
Te Runanga a rohe boundaries were determined as follows:

Rohe 1 – Potaka ki Waiapu
Rohe 2 – Waiapu ki Tawhiti
Rohe 3 – Tawhiti ki Rototahe
Rohe 4 – Rototahe ki Te Toka a Taiau

The key behind these determinations were the need for marae and whanau/hapu to be represented on the 
Board.  The rohe designations were in accordance with the traditional manner in which the whanau/hapu/marae 
operated with each other. 

The first members of what became the Interim TRONP Board were:

Rohe 1: Api Mahuika (Chairman); Koro Dewes; George Stainton; Chas Begg; Iritana Tawhiwhirangi.
Rohe 2: Eru Reedy; Donna Awatere; Marie Collier; Tame Te Maro; Tamati Reedy.
Rohe 3: Parekura Horomia; W. Ryland; Phil Aspinall; Wayne Ngata.
Rohe 4: Martin Kingi; Tawa Paenga; Anaru Paenga; John Taumaunu

Several submissions were made to the Select Committee following the establishment of an Interim Board in 
1985. Two submissions followed and it was not until 1 September 1987 before TRONP was constituted as a Trust 
Board under The Maori Trust Boards Act 1955, and Te Runanga o Ngati Porou Act 1987.

Our first Secretary was Josie Keelan who was seconded to the interim TRONP in 1985 from the Department of 
Social Welfare.  I and Ngati Porou owe much to the then Director General of Social Welfare, John Grant for Josie’s 
secondment and salary.  We were so poor that we couldn’t afford any means of transport for Josie, and her only 
mode of transport was a 10-speed bicycle from 1985 till her resignation in 1987. She now holds a professorship 
at Auckland University of Technology. 

Josie’s time was a period of pioneership, which led ultimately to the establishment of effective relationships with 
business agencies and crown entities, through which funding, by way of contracts, was generated for TRONP.

Meeting fees, honorariums and costs never existed for years because we did not have the money or resources 
to meet these expenses. When fees were paid years later it began with $35 per meeting and $50 for the 
Chairman. This did not include travel.  Fees and costs notwithstanding these were exciting days of commitment 
to Ngati Porou going forward.  This commitment by Trustees, C.E’s and staff has contributed to positive social 
and economic growth and development for Ngati Porou, notwithstanding the ongoing efforts of some to 
discredit TRONP.  

TRONP can now hand over to the new TRONPNUI (Te Runanganui o Ngati Porou) all of the assets and resources it 
has gained for our people, which has a conservative value of about $60m.  This is a great start for the new entity, 
assets which TRONP did not have at is birth and early years.  Besides these assets TRONPNUI will have $110m 
plus $20m for cultural redress.

Te Runanga o N
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Sadly, the new entity trustees cannot assume their role until our Settlement Bill has been made law.  Our 
submissions to seeking ways by which TRONPNUI trustees can assume control has been thwarted by legislation.  
I have notified the new trustees the reason why we are unable to transfer the authority to them.

Finally, I wish to thank many people, but space is not lending itself to this exercise.  Be that as it may, I refer 
to the following:

• Mere Pohatu of our Te Puni Kokiri Regional Office.  My thanks for her support over many years

• To all our past and current leadership, namely – C.E’s / Secretaries – our heartfelt thanks to you from 
us and from me personally.

• TRONP staff – the heart of our organisations – we as an iwi owe much to you for realizing our 
dreams and aspirations for Ngati Porou

• TRONP trustees – past and present for their leadership; guidance and wisdom all of which has seen 
the growth and stability of TRONP on the one hand, and the benefits of the achievements gained for 
the tribe on the other

• Te Haeata Members – Rob McLeod; Ned Ihaka; Rei Kohere; Selwyn Parata; Linda Smith; Jock Walker; 
Kody Pewhairangi – thank you for a job well done 

• Te Haeata advisors James Johnston and his team at Rainey Collins; Herewini Te Koha; Matanuku 
Mahuika of Kahui Legal – tena koutou

• Mayor Meng Foon for his ongoing support for Ngati Porou and TRONP – ka nui te mihi

• To my P.A. Albie McFarlane for looking after my interests, and all of the many other demands on me 
– my personal and eternal thank you.

Finally the TRONP journey has taken us to many places over the years and I stand proud of what TRONP has 
achieved.  Without the support of Ngati Porou leaders mentioned earlier in this report we as a tribe would 
have been the poorer.

Hence to everyone, Meri Kerihimete, me nga mihi mo te tau hou ki a tatau katoa.
Ma te Atua tatau e tiaki.

Kia ora

A T Mahuika
Tiamana 

Back Row left - right: Phil Aspinall, Tate Pewhairangi, Noel Raihania, Selwin Parata, Ned Ihaka (Manager)
Front Row left - right: Iritana Tawhiwhirangi, Apirana Mahuika (Chairman), Tom Te Maro, Maria Whitehead

Absent: Koro Dewes (Deputy Chairman), Anaru Paenga, Tawa Paenga, Hopa Keelan, Tipuna Tangaere, 
Tom Fox, Wattie Mackey, Boydie Kirikiri and Syd Clarke.

TE RUNANGA O NGATI POROU FROM MAY 1989 TO MAY 1993
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Karanga 
mai
Karanga mai, manaaki ra,
I nga tai aroha e whati nei,
He whakautu mai te powhiri,
Tu atu nei ahau, a Putaanga e,
I to marae, e hoa ma,
Ahakoa iti noa te awhina,
Ma te aroha ra e whakanui,
No reira e hoa ma, kia ora ra.

Karanga ra, nga iwi e
Ki te  Tairawhiti, Porourangi
He iwi moke noa, e haere nei,
Ki te hapai kia nui te taonga ra,
He mea tuku mai, maoritanga,

Ahakoa iti noa te awhina,
Ma te aroha ra ka ea nei
No reira e hoa ma, kia ora ra.

Amohia, hapainga I te rangatahi
Kia kaha ra, 
kei a koe te kakau o te hoe
Hoea ki mamao, kei wehe noa,
Ahakoa whati mai nga tai nunui
Kei tua te maria hoea ra,
Ma te aroha ra e kawe mai,
No reira e hoa ma, kia ora ra.

Henare Waitoa wrote this song for 
the opening of the Hinepare dining 
hall in 1945 and was sung when Ngati 
Putaanga laid their koha.  Hinepare 
was the sister of Putaanga.  Ta Apirana 
Ngata loved this song so much, after 
asking Henare to compose more 
verses, and being told to do it himself, 
he wrote the last two verses.

Matua whakamihi atu ki nga karangatanga 
maha e tautoko nei i nga mahi a Te Runanga i 
nga tau kua hori taenoatia ki tenei ra.

The Board of Trustees met twelve times during 
the year and the key priorities dealt with are 
outlined below.

Treaty Settlement Negotiations
At the board’s request Te Haeata representatives 
reported regularly to the board in the lead up 
to the signing of the Deed of Settlement (see Te 
Haeata report over leaf).  Post-signing the Board 
agreed to the seven Te Haeata representatives 
voted in by marae and hapu clusters becoming 
the ‘establishment directors’ as we work 
towards the Ngati Porou Bill becoming an Act of 
Parliament, which we now expect will occur in 
early 2012. 

• Hapu Cluster 1 (Potikirua ki 
Whangaokena) Rei Kohere

• Hapu Cluster 2 (Whangaokena ki Waiapu) 
Dr Apirana Mahuika

• Hapu Cluster 3 (Pohautea ki Onepoto) 
Ned Ihaka

• Hapu Cluster 4 (Reporua ki Rahui 
Manuka) Professor Linda Smith

• Hapu Cluster 5 (Rahui Manuka ki 
Mataahu) Selwyn Parata

• Hapu Cluster 6 (Mataahu ki Kokoronui) 
Koromatai (Kody) Pewhairangi

• Hapu Cluster 7 (Kokoronui ki Toka-a-
Taiau) Te Okeroa (Jock) Walker

BOARD OF TRUSTEES
OUR YEAR IN REVIEW

The seven Te Haeata 
representatives are:



Appointment of Trustees to Other Boards 
The board selected one or more trustees to represent the Runanga on the 
following boards and committees: Radio Ngati Porou, Pakihiroa Farms Ltd, 
Tairawhiti Polytechnic and more recently Ngati Porou Hauora and E Tipu e Rea. 
The role of the trustees was to report back to the board on issues of strategic 
relevance to the Runanga. 

Ngati Porou Hauora (NPH) 
In December the board agreed to assist NPH with immediate financial assistance 
when NPH found itself facing a financial crisis. The NPH Chair (Amos Forrester) 
and CEO (Nellie Brooking) presented an overview of NPH’s financial situation to 
the Runanga board and the history of how it reached that position. By March it 
became apparent that it would be beneficial for NPH to transfer to TRONP as one 
of its subsidiaries with charitable trust status. The trustees appointed to the new 
NPH board by the Runanga board were: Huti Puketapu-Wilson (Chairperson), 
Selwyn Parata, Adrienne Ngata, William Burdett, April Papuni and Cynthia Sidney.

Foreshore and Seabed 
Over the past year the Foreshore and Seabed sub-committee of TRONP has 
overseen the implementation programme for the Deed of Agreement. The 
implementation project management team has worked directly with Ngati 
Porou hapu to help prepare hapu for taking on their responsibilities under 
the Deed. Progress has been slower than expected however, the following has 
been achieved:

• Agreement to establish 7 Ngati Porou hapu management groups that 
correspond with the commercial fisheries and rohenga tipuna hapu 
arrangements

• Establishment of legal entities for 5 of the 7 hapu management 
arrangements, the remaining 2 being close to formation

• Agreement to establish 13 customary fisheries management 
committees across the Ngati Porou rohe

• Appointment of 10 of 13 customary fisheries management 
committees; and

• Completion of 10 draft customary fisheries management plans.

Implementation work with hapu is continuing. Some aspects of the Deed of 
Agreement are to be renegotiated to take account of the Marine and Coastal 
(Takutai Moana) Area Act 2011. The Ngati Porou Takutai Moana legislation will 
be introduced to Parliament in due course.

“...the board agreed 
to assist Ngati 

Porou Haora with 
immediate financial 

assistance...”

ROHE

1
Dr. A. Mahuika A. Papuni-Ilses K. Goldsmith P. Tangaere

ROHE

2
B. Burdett L. Harrison H. McIlroy S. Parata

Te Runanga o N
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“It is an extremely competitive market 
fraught with risk, not just economically, but 

culturally and politically.”

ANZ Relationship
The Runanga banks with ANZ who were keen to grow their relationship with 
Ngati Porou. In September 2010, ANZ sponsored a representative from the 
organisation to accompany their team to the Shanghai World Expo, an event 
that ANZ sponsors as the leading Australasian Bank in Asia. The board agreed 
to send Lance Rickard, a Director of PFL, who learnt a great deal about the 

business opportunities that exist with China. On his return he reported to 
the board, “It is an extremely competitive market fraught with risk, not just 
economically, but culturally and politically.” Despite this he believed there is 
no time like now to be moving into China. ANZ was also the major sponsor of 
the Ngata Memorial Lectures even sending some of their staff to participate. 
Several other initiatives were discussed between the bank and TRONP that 
may yet eventuate.

Whanau Ora
In 2010 the government released Whānau Ora, 
an inclusive approach to providing services and 
opportunities to whanau across New Zealand. The 
intention is to empower whanau as a whole, rather than 
focusing separately on individual whanau members and 
their problems. Ten Whanau Ora Regional Leadership 
Groups were established around the country based 
on Te Puni Kokiri regional boundaries. The Runanga 
nominated Dr Te Kapunga Dewes who was appointed 
to the Tairawhiti Group. The group recommended 
potential providers for our region.  With Koro’s passing 
soon after his appointment, Dr Apirana Mahuika was 
made his replacement. The Runanga was part of a 
successful grouping that was chosen as the Whanau 
Ora provider for the Gisborne - East Coast region.  
The consortium consists of Ngāti Porou Hauora; Te 
Aitanga-a-Hauiti Hauora; Tūranga Health; Te Rūnanga 
o Tūranganui a Kiwa; Te Rūnanga o Te Whānau.

ROHE

3
N. Raihania H. Poutu M. Whitehead M. Whatuira T. Pewhairangi

P. Te Kani Dr. F. Te Momo J. Weke
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Chief Executive Recruitment
We wish to record our thanks to Monty Soutar who, at the end of January 2011, completed his two-year term as Chief 
Executive. He has the satisfaction of knowing he led the organisation during the period in which Ngati Porou reached 
a settlement package with the Crown. 

In August 2010, the board began exploring whether a replacement CE could be seconded to TRONP, given the tight 
fiscal environment and the need to transition a replacement while Dr Soutar was still with the organisation. We were 
pleased that Te Puni Kokiri (TPK) was prepared to assist TRONP and, in December 2010, Victor Walker came to the 
Runanga from the Tairawhiti Regional office.  He officially took over the CE’s role on 1 February 2011. The Board 
would like to thank TPK for its support and Victor for the leadership he demonstrated in the second half of the year.

“We were pleased 
that Te Puni Kokiri 

was prepared to assist 
TRONP...”
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TRONP TRONP [SPECIAL] PAT

$166,382 

$943,859 
$1,060,771 

$870,292 

$329,881 

$832,522 

-$151,371 

$29,120,412 

$671,999 

$145,834 

-$83,000 

$909,000 

$1,318,000 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THE PERIOD 
1 JULY 1998 TO 30 JUNE 2011

Showing the annual net surplus/(deficit) for the TRONP 
consolidated group.
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Hei konei 
ra e Hine
Hei konei ra e Hine,
Korua ko to pouri nui,
He mahi kau atu ra
Tangi hotu atu nei
Ki nga pekanga nui

Ko Kopu e tiaho nei
He mea he tohenga nui
Ma nga tai nui 
E whati nei
E wehe te aroha

Henare Waitoa wrote this love song 
in 1940 when local men were being 
enlisted and sent overseas to fight in 
WW2. For many couples the farewell 
functions were the last time they 
would see each other again. This 
song talks of the pain of leaving 
loved ones behind.

Introduction
The signing of the Deed of 
Settlement between the Crown and 
Ngati Porou on 22 December 2010 
represented the culmination of two 
and half years of direct negotiations 
and many more years in earlier 

discussions and mandating.  In April 2008 the 
Crown accepted Te Runanga o Ngati Porou’s Deed 
of Mandate to negotiate the settlement of all 
historical Treaty claims for Ngati Porou by direct 
negotiation with the Crown.  Te Haeata Sub-
committee was appointed in the same month 
and negotiations with the Crown commenced in 
July 2008.   

TE HAEATA SUB 
COMMITTEE

Ngati Porou Treaty Settlement
Hapu Sub-Committee of Te Runanga o Ngati Porou



Timeline
The critical milestones for Ngati Porou’s settlement negotiations with the Crown 
are set out below.

The Settlement Package
A significant settlement package was negotiated by Te Haeata for Ngati Porou.  It 
contains innovative elements of address which go beyond traditional settlement 
quantum, aiming to deliver future benefits and value across a diverse range 
of areas affecting Ngati Porou economic, social and cultural development. It 
comprises money, land and relationship arrangements with the Crown. 

Money
Te Runanganui o Ngati Porou will receive, on behalf of Ngati Porou, some $123 
million to help Ngati Porou to grow and benefit economically. This money 
includes:

• $90 million cash compensation plus accrued 
interest.

• $20 million for cultural redress initiatives 
transferred on signing of the DOS in December 
2010

• $13 million of accumulated rentals as a 
consequence of purchasing the Ruatoria and 
Tokomaru Forest lands.

Land
The Crown will transfer ownership of the following land to Ngati Porou:

• Three of the guardian maunga of Mt Hikurangi (Taitai, Whanokao, and Aorangi).
• Almost 6,000 hectares of the Crown conservation estate. This is significantly more 

than any iwi has received in previous settlements and includes some of the highest 
conservation value lands in the Ngati Porou rohe. 

• Five land banked properties.
• Manutahi Forest.
• Ngati Porou will purchase Ruatoria and Tokomaru Forest lands for a price of $11 million, 

and will receive future annual rentals for the commercial forestry licenses. The Crown 
will assign carbon credits to Ngati Porou with these properties.

Phase Description Date
Pre-Negotiations Ngati Porou vote for direct negotiations with Crown Dec-07

TRONP Mandate Approved by Crown Apr-08

Te Haeata Sub-committee appointed Jul-08

Phase 1 High Level Agreement 1 signed Oct-08

Phase 2 High Level Agreement 2 signed Jun-09

High Level Agreement 3 signed Dec-09

Phase 3 Initialled Deed of Settlement Sep-10

Phase 4 Ngati Porou vote and ratify Settlement Nov-10

Deed of Settlement signed Dec-10

Phase 5 Legislation Jun-2012

Minister of Treaty Negotiations the Hon. Chris Finlayson addresses Ngati Porou at the signing of the Deed of Settlement at Parliament. 
Left/facing are Te Haeata trustees.

•  $123 Million in cash
•  Almost 6,000 hectares 

of conservation land

Te Runanga o N
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Ngati Porou will have the option to purchase certain Crown-owned lands in the 
Ngati Porou rohe within two years from the settlement date and lease these 
properties back to the Crown.  This land includes several school sites and police 
owned properties.
Ngati Porou also has a right to purchase a significant number of other properties 
if they become surplus to the Crown’s requirements. This right continues for 170 
years from the settlement date.  These include properties from: Housing New 
Zealand, Police, Ministry of Education, New Zealand Defence Force, Ministry of 
Justice, Department of Conservation, and the Department of Corrections.

Relationship Arrangements with the Crown
New relationships with the Crown will be established either through formal 
commitments, protocols or agreements between Ngati Porou and:

• Archives New Zealand, the National Library, and Te Papa Tongarewa 
• The Ministers of Conservation, Arts, Culture and Heritage, and Energy and Resources 

(regarding minerals) 
• The Department of Conservation to carry out maintenance on specific public 

conservation lands returned to Ngati Porou in the settlement.
• The Department of Conservation Strategic Partnership to develop a conservation 

management strategy for the conservation land that is not being transferred to Ngati 
Porou in the settlement.

• Various Crown agencies through an Accord, 
providing for Ngati Porou input to priority setting 
and decision-making relating to government 
funding and responsibilities focused on:

- erosion control within the Ngati Porou rohe;
- infrastructure, including communications, 

energy, and roading; and
- social services, including health and education within the Ngati Porou rohe.

• The Crown working to address erosion control in the Waiapu River catchment as part of 
the first agreement entered into under the Accord.

• Crown and local authority recognition of Ngati Porou’s association with the Waiapu, 
Uawa, Waimata and Turanganui rivers.

New and enhanced Ngati Porou-Crown relationships will also be assisted by the 
following undertakings contained in the DOS:

• Crown acknowledgement that it breached the Treaty of Waitangi.
• Acknowledgement that Ngati Porou fulfilled its obligations as a Treaty partner.
• A formal apology by the Crown.
• An opportunity at hui for claimants whose claims will be settled by the Ngati Porou 

Treaty of Waitangi Settlement to air their grievances caused by the Crown’s breaches of 
the Treaty of Waitangi.

• An historical account of the interaction between the Crown and Ngati Porou.
• Recognition of Ngati Porou’s military service.

Te Haeata Team
Te Haeata had a strong team comprised of seven elected Hapu Cluster 
representatives: Rei Kohere, Dr Api Mahuika (Chairman), Ned Ihaka, Linda 
Smith, Selwyn Parata, Kody Pewhairangi and Jock Walker, and four members 
appointed by TRONP: Whaimutu Dewes, Matanuku Mahuika, Rob McLeod 
(Lead negotiator) and Herewini Te Koha. Rainey Collins (legal counsel for 
WAI272) provided legal advice and Teepa Wawatai was the project manager.

Negotiations
Negotiating a settlement with the Crown 
is a demanding process requiring a major 
investment in intellectual, emotional and 
financial resources.  The breadth and extent 
of some redress proposals required extensive 
cross-departmental consultation, problem 
solving and team management by both 
parties.  During the two and half year period of negotiations Te Haeata 
representatives met 230 times with representatives from Crown agencies 

• Erosion control
•  Crown apology

• 230 negotiation 
sessions with the 
Crown
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Funding Source & Application Amount

 CFRT  

1    -  Representation Mandate 0.25M

2    -  High Level Agreements 2 & 3 1.80M

3    -  Deed of Settlement 2.30M

4    -  Specialist Advice 0.20M

 OTS  

5    -  Deed of Mandate 0.10M

6    -  Terms of negotiation 0.04M

7    -  Agreement in Principle 0.29M

8    -  Deed of settlement 0.41M

9    -  Ratification 0.13M

10    -  Legislation 0.06M

TOTAL  $5.58M 

and other third parties who had a direct interest in our settlement.  Crown 
agencies included Department of Conservation, Ministry for Economic 
Development, Ministry for Arts and Culture, Ministry of Forestry, Ministry of 
Fish, Ministry for the Environment, Ministry of Internal Affairs, NZ Archives, 
National Library, Turnbull Library, NZ Defence. Third parties included 
organisations such as Te Papa Tongarewa, Gisborne District Council, Te Ohu 
Kai Moana and neighbouring iwi - Whanau-a-Apanui, Rongowhakaata and Te 
Aitanga-a-Mahaki. 

The team overcame some significant obstacles through dogged persistence 
and applying creativity in an attempt to find solutions and reach an 
acceptable and timely settlement.  In addition there were challenges in the 
High Court, a Waitangi Tribunal Urgency Hearing and many more applications 
for urgent hearings to deal with.  In October 2009 Judge Clarke set down 
three days in December to hear certain 
claimants’ applications for urgency regarding 
TRONP’s mandate.  Five months later the 
Waitangi Tribunal decision was announced 
endorsing the mandate of Te Runanga o Ngati 
Porou to negotiate a settlement on behalf of 
all Ngati Porou.  The Tribunal declined to delay 
the Ngati Porou settlement as requested by the applicants and concluded 
that the potential prejudice of delaying such a significant settlement would 
outweigh any possible prejudice to the claimants from having their claims 
settled without their specific consent.  The report also stated that support 
for Te Runanga o Ngati Porou is “substantial”, “widespread”, “considerable” 
whereas support for the applicants is not.

Communication 
Te Haeata was conscious of the obligation 
to provide opportunity for Ngati Porou to 
provide input into the process and receive 
feedback on the progress of negotiations.  
During the two and half year period of 
negotiations Te Haeata held 114 Hapu Cluster 
hui and 38 Taura Here hui and wananga. An 
extensive communication plan was implemented featuring regular cluster 
hui, wananga, newsletters, an 0800 service, use of social networking and 
the website which was promoted extensively through radio and television 
advertising.  Ngati Porou was the first iwi to use television advertising, text 
voting and an interactive website with regular features and competitions 
designed to engage Ngati Porou of all age groups locally and internationally.

Funding
Settlement negotiations were fully 
funded from external agencies. 
Te Haeata received funding from 
the Crown Forestry Rental Trust 
(CFRT) and the Office of Treaty 
Settlements (OTS) for negotiating 
a settlement with the Crown.  The 
total amount of funding received 
was roughly $5.58 Million. 

• Waitangi Tribunal 
endorses mandate

• 114 Hapu Cluster hui
•  38 Taura Here hui
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I Hakiri 
to Reo 
I hakiri to reo ki Waiapu
Ka whakaeke te Tairawhiti
Ki te whakanui i to Hui Topu.
Karanga mai, ki nga iwi,
Tangi mai ra, mihi mai ra,
Manaaki mai ra te Taihauauru

Kia ora te Pihopa o Waikato
Nga Pariha awhina mai,
Me nga iwi tumau ki muri,
Me tangi atu hoki ki nga rohe,
Kua eke ki Waikato e,
Ki te hapai ki a nui te 
Maoritanga e.

Tenei ano e whai ake nei,
Te whakapapa i piri ai,
Te Kingitanga o Waikato e,
Ki te Tairawhiti.  

Ko Porourangi nana 
A Ueroa
Ko Tokerau ka puta ko 
Iwipupu tana uri e
Nana ko Kahungunu
Ko Kahukuranui
Ko Rakaihikuroa
Ko Taraia
Ko Tuaka
Ko Mahinarangi

Ko Porourangi nana 
A Ueroa
Ko Tokerau ka puta ko 
Iwipupu tana uri e
Nana ko Kahungunu
Ko Kahukuranui
Ko Rakaihikuroa
Ko Tupurupuru
Ko Rangituehu
Ko Tuaka, Ko Mahinarangi.

I Hakiri to Reo was written in 1962 for 
Waiapu Pariha to perform at the Hui 
Topu held at Turangawaewae Marae 
Ngaruawahia. This song outlines the 
whakapapa link between Tainui and 
Ngati Porou through Porourangi, 
Kahungunu and Mahinarangi.

“I tetahi po ka titiro ia ki te po tu i waho i te 
Omanga e taruru ana, ki te Ika o te rangi me 
nga Patari, ki te tae pukohu tataiore e taipua 
ana i nga maunga. Ka ki ia ‘He marino tua-
ukiuki apopo, he kawatawata tata moana te 
koangiangi; ka haere au ki te moana.’”
Na Mohi Turei

‘One night he looked at the clouds beyond the 
crayfish beds, resting close and compact, at the 
Milky Way and the Magellan Clouds, at the flakes 
of mist running together and settling in masses 
on the mountains.  He said: ‘It will be settled calm 
tomorrow, the wind will be a light sea breeze making 
gentle ripples on the water; I shall put to sea.’ 

My tenure as seconded Chief Executive (CE) for 
TRONP began in February. I soon appreciated 
what a vast range of portfolios the organisation 
carries and how much the organisation does with 
the income it receives from contracts. 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE
VICTOR WALKER



Year End Financial Position
The year end result for Te Runanga o Ngati Porou was negatively impacted by 
the financial assistance provided to Ngati Porou Hauora during the year.  The 
trustees provided funds to keep the Hauora functioning for the good of the 
east coast community.  If we take this investment out of the result the Runanga 
would have made a small loss of $17,000.

Ngati Porou Hauora
TRONP loaned $500,000 to Ngati Porou Hauora in December. The loan is 
interest free for 12 months at which time 5% interest will be charged. TRONP is 
also using reserves of $340,000 to provide an overdraft facility for NPH.  

Treaty Settlements
The first half of last year saw the CE involved with Te Haeata in the negotiations 
around the Treaty Settlement for Ngati Porou. As a historian he also assisted 
in drafting the agreed historical account and Crown Acknowledgements 
which formed the basis for the Crown apology to Ngāti Porou in the Deed of 
Settlement.
The signing of the Deed of Settlement at Parliament in December was a special 
event for Ngati Porou. It was testimony to the efforts of so many, past and 
present in seeking redress from the Crown and securing a resource base for 
the future of Ngati Porou. 

TRONP’s Birthday
We celebrated our 23rd birthday with the help of Radio Ngati Porou, Te Kura 
Kaupapa Maori  or Taperenui a Whatonga and pakeke from the Waiapu through 
a live broadcast from Rahui Marae.

Policies Update
At the start of the year TRONPs policies were all updated, copies sent to all its 
offices and placed on the Runanga’s intranet. They are to be reviewed every 
three years to meet audit requirements and best practice. 

Ruaumoko ki Otautahi – Christchurch Earthquake.
TRONP supported the Radio Ngati Porou Radiothon to raise funds for our 
whanau in Christchurch devastated by the earthquake. Runanga representatives 
travelled to Christchurch to meet with Ngati Porou whanaunga and to ascertain 
the level of support that was required. The CEO presented Ngati Porou Ki 
Waitaha Taurahere representatives with a cheque for $50K raised through 
the Radio Ngati Porou Radiothon which took place on the 3rd March. TRONP 
also distributed all proceeds from the Radiothon. The whanau were very 
appreciative of the support and kind thoughts in their time of great need.

Corporate Services
There were a number of changes in the Finance Team as we tried to make 
the shared services between the Runanga, the fishing group and more latterly 
Ngati Porou Forestry Ltd efficient.  We realigned the Finance Team into the 
Shared Financial Services Unit (SFSU) in preparation for the transition to Te 
Runanganui O Ngati Porou.  Five positions were created from this review.

1. Assistant Accountant

2. Finance Analyst

3. Accounts Payable

4. Accounts Assistant; and

5. Payroll Officer (externally advertised).

“The signing of the 
Deed of Settlement 

at Parliament in 
December was a 
special event for 

Ngati Porou.”
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company Petrobas and to listen to 
their exploration program. Petrobas 
have been granted a permit to 
undertake 2D and 3D Seismic 
testing and to drill an exploratory 
well. The hui objected strongly to 
the exploration project outlined by 
Petrobas. Subsequently the TRONP 
Board met with the Hon. Hekia Parata 
Minister of Energy and Resources and 
Ministry of Economic Development 
officials including Sir Tamati Reedy, 
Dame Iritana Tawhiwhirangi and 
Sir Wira Gardiner to discuss the 
Governments economic strategy 
including the activity of Petrobas. 
The Minister apologised for the 
lack of consultation. There was 
general agreement that consultation 
and communication were key 
prerequisites in establishing an 
enduring relationship moving 
forward. We also met with Prime 
Minister John Key and Ministers 
Hekia Parata and Pita Sharples and 
Te Ururoa Flavell MP and Te Whanau-
a-Apanui leadership to discuss 
objections and concerns.

East Coast Regional Business Partners
In November NZTE and FRST 
appointed the East Coast Regional 
Business Partners to their new 
network of 14 Regional Business 
Partners. TRONP joined TROTAK, 
EMA, GDC and the Gisborne 
Chamber of Commerce to make up 
the Gisborne East Coast partners. 
The partners are working with local 
businesses and provide a range of 
advice and access to funding and 
support focused on assisting them to 
grow their business. 

Massey University Support
We continued to build relationships 
with tertiary educational institutions, 
particularly Massey and Waikato 
Universities. Through Professor Sir 
Mason Durie we had two Massey 
University graduates, both Ngati 
Porou, working with us over summer. 
They each received a Purehuroa 
Iwi Research Internship from the 
University to enable them to assist 
the Runanga in two areas: Youth 
Mentoring and producing a fully 
annotated bibliography of literature 
related to Ngati Porou.

Whanau Ora
The Chief Executives of TRONP, 
Ngati Porou Hauora, Turanga Health, 
TROTAK, Te Runanga o te Whanau-
a-Apanui and Hauiti Hauora put 
together a successful bid to become 
the Gisborne East Coast’s major 
provider of social services under 
the Government’s new Whanau Ora 
initiative.  

Te Reo Ake o Ngati Porou
The CE initiated the drafting of a 
Maori Language Strategy for the 
organisation that was taken out to 
Ngati Porou for consultation and then 
adopted by the Runanga board. It is 
hoped that this document will provide 
the impetus for the new entity giving 
some priority to supporting the 
retention of Te Reo Ake o Ngati Porou. 
The strategy was launched at Kariaka 
Pa  on 1 April.

Petroleum and Mineral Exploration 
Permits
A lot of the CE’s time was taken 
up responding to requests for 
information about the costal oil 
drilling agenda of the current 
Government and where the Runanga 
stood on the matter. At the Ngata 
Memorial Lectures, where a session 
was spent discussing the possible 
impacts of drilling, the Runanga was 
able to state clearly its position and 
prepared a submission for Ngati Porou 
to the Government which hundreds 
signed on the day. We were also 
involved in trying to dissuade Crown 
Minerals of the Ministry of Economic 
Development (MED) from issuing a 
prospecting permit over a mixture 
of Crown-owned land, Maori-owned 
land and other privately-owned land 
covering approximately 1,599 square 
km north of a line running from 
Waiomatatini and curving west and 
then northwest to Whanarua Bay. 
We made a submission objecting to 
the permit on a number of grounds 
and made the point that the recent 
consultation processes completed by 
MED had been highly unsatisfactory 
from the Runanga’s point of view.

A hui was held at Hinerupe Marae 
in Te Araroa for Ngati Porou to meet 
representatives of the Brazillian 

“The hui objected 
strongly to the 

exploration 
project outlined by 

Petrobas.”
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Education Review Office
The CE met with Graham Stoop CEO of the Education Review Office and review 
officer Makere Smith to further the conversation initiated by the TRONP Chair 
about Ngati Porou developing an assessment tool for Ngati Porou kura to assess 
their proficiency of Te Reo ake o Ngati Porou.  From that initial hui ERO was 
charged with three tasks:

1. Review of Ngati Porou Schools, which is completed

2. Include findings in the annual ERO report, which is also completed; and

3. Support Ngati Porou kura to design an assessment tool for Te Reo Ake o 
Ngati Porou.

The ERO CE gave an assurance that ERO are committed to the third task and 
are keen to continue discussions to support how Ngati Porou might see the 
development of the assessment tool. 

Sir Tamati Reedy 
It was a special privilege for TRONP to support the Hiruharama Marae 
whanau and hapu celebrate the Knighthood ceremony for Sir Tamati Reedy at 
Hiruharama Pa on 25th May. The ceremony was attended by more than 500 
people including fellow recipients of the Queens honour, Sir Henare Ngata 
and Dame Iritana Tawhiwhirangi. New Zealand Governor General Anand 
Satyanand presented Sir Tamati with the insignia of a Knight Companion of 
the New Zealand Order of Merit for services to education. Joining the home 
people were a contingent from Waikato University and the Kingitanga along 
with iwi representatives from throughout the country and community and 
political leaders. 

Acknowledgements
I would like to thank the Board of Trustees for appointing me to the role 
of Chief Executive. It has been a very busy five months, made moreso by 
the settlement, the inclusion of Ngati Porou Hauora as a subsidiary of the 
Runanga and the realignment of Shared Financial Services. I appreciate the 
efforts of the previous CE to induct me into the role and I thank the staff 
of the Runanga for their unceasing efforts to make the Runanga a worthy 
organisation that its people can respect and appreciate.

Victor Walker
Chief Executive

Sir Tamati Reedy - Knighted.

“..Knight Companion 
of the New Zealand 

Order of Merit 
for services to 
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Tomo mai 
Tomo mai e tama ma ki roto
i nga ringa e tuwhera atu nei
ki nga morehu o te Kiwi e
ki nga tama toa o tenei riri nui

Hoki mai, hoki mai ki te wa 
kainga
kua tutuki te tumanako
kei te kapakapa mai te haki
o Ingarangi i runga o Tiamana e

Hoki ruarua mai e tama ma
ki nga iwi e tatari atu nei
kua mahue atu ra nga tini hoa
ki runga whenua, iwi ke
Na te Moana ra ko te wikitoria
hei whakamaumaharatanga e
ki o ratau tinana kei pamamao
ki o ratou ingoa kei muri nei

Hoki mai, hoki mai ki te wa 
kainga
kua tutuki te tumanako
kei te kapakapa mai te haki
o Ingarangi i runga oTiamana e

In 1946 Henare Waitoa was asked 
by Ta Apirana Ngata to compose a 
waiata to welcome home the soldiers 
of the 28th Maori Battalion & the 
soldiers of the Second World War. 
The result was ‘Tomo Mai’ which 
was soon being sung throughout 
New Zealand.

MATAURANGA
E TIPU E REA (ETER): TRONP/Ministry of 
Education Iwi Partnership.

Raparapa Ririki Education Strategy
Te reo ake o Ngati Porou
The retention and preservation of te reo me nga 
tikanga o Ngati Porou is a key priority for the 
Raparapaririki Education Strategy.  It supports the 
provision of regular wananga and classes in Te Reo 
Maori being offered to kaimahi, nga matua and 
whanau working in Kohanga Reo, Puna Reo and ECE 
centres throughout  Ngati Porou. 

Matua Ohomauri 
This was a programme set up in 2009 for parents 
and whanau wanting to learn Te Reo Maori.  Evening 
classes were offered and Te Ataarangi tutors were 
engaged to deliver the lessons at Matakaoa, Tikitiki, 
Ruatoria, Tokomaru Bay and Tolaga Bay with over 
160 students attending.  Classes were held during 
the summer months and feedback from students 
was that classes were fun, enjoyable, and most 
students were more confident in speaking Maori to 
their children and whanau at home and at kohanga. 

Te Whare Korero o Ngati Porou
This programme, established in April, is designed 
to provide opportunities for kaimahi, matua and 
whanau to work together on strengthening te reo 
me nga tikanga o Ngati Porou.

Nga Kaihapai o te Reo 
This group have been engaged to support Te Whare 
Korero o Ngati Porou. It is made up of Ngati Porou 
pakeke with expertise in te reo me nga tikanga o 
Ngati Porou and who are experienced and skilled 
in teaching in Kohanga Reo, Kura Kaupapa Maori, 
primary and secondary schools, and in teaching Te 
Reo Maori to adults. 



Te Rangitawaea – Ngati Porou East 
Coast Schools ICT Strategy

Ahi Kaa at Parliament
Our country’s political leaders had 
the opportunity to experience a 
world many of them may be unfami-
lar with, when a digital photography 
exhibition opened at Parliament in 
April.  Ahi Kaa: Through Our Eyes by 
Ngati Porou East Coast students, ran 
for seven weeks in the captial. 

The innovative exhibition, hosted 
by the Minister of Education, Hon. 
Anne Tolley, featured exciting digital 
art works by rangatahi from Tolaga 
Bay Area School, Kuranui, Ngata 
Memorial College, Te Kura Kaupapa 
Maori o Te Waiu o Ngati Porou, and Te 
Kura Kaupapa Maori o Te Kawakawa 
Mai i Tawhiti. 

The exhibition first opened in August 
2010 at Toihoukura, Tairawhiti 
Polytechnic and then at the Sir 
Apirana Ngata Memorial Lectures in 
Ruatoria. The 52 images reflected the 

students’ own interpretations of the 
expression “Ahi Kaa” - the people who 
keep the home fires burning. They 
are intimate insights into modern 
day Ngati Porou culture and identity 
and reflect the world the students 
inhabit and their understanding of 
their place within it.

“Ahi Kaa” was the initiative of ETER. 
The exhibition was developed as 
part of ETER’s ICT (Information 
Communication Technology) strategy, 
Te Rangitawaea, which celebrates its 
tenth anniversary this year. 

Chairperson of the Te Rangitawaea 
strategy Nori Parata says “Ahikaa has 
reached a far wider audience than 
we originally expected. The students 
have been amazed and proud that 
their work has been exhibited in 
three locations.”

Nga Tama Toa
In September 2009 reo experts from 
throughout the C Company rohe (mai 
i Tarakeha ki Paritu) including the iwi 
of Ngai Tai, Te Whanau a Apanui, Ngati 
Porou, Rongowhakaata, Te Aitanga 
a Mahaki and Ngai Tamanuhiri were 
brought together by the CE, Dr Monty 
Soutar, as a Te Reo Ake o Ngati Porou 
project. The purpose was to ‘wananga’ 
the unique dialects of each C Company 
iwi as they translated the book Nga 
Tama Toa: The Price of Citizenship.

Since then 11 hui have been held in 
Gisborne, Torere, Manutuke, Ruatoria 
and Te Kaha. 14 of the 18 chapters of 
the book have been completed and 
presented at these hui, reflecting 

A large roopu of Ngati Porou East Coast students attended the opening of Ahi Kaa at Parliament.
( Photo courtesy Tolaga Bay Area School).

countless numbers of voluntary hours 
spent translating. The translation 
group, who are all native speakers, 
include Jossie and Willie Kaa, the late 
Dr Koro Dewes, Dr Apirana Mahuika, 
Sir Tamati Reedy, Ethel McPherson, 
Kate Walker, Hunaara Tangaere, all 
of Ngati Porou, Tussie Butler-Gamble 
and Kahu Stirling (Te Whanau a 
Apanui/Ngati Porou), Bill Maxwell 
and Muriwai Jones (Ngai Tai), Lewis 
Moeau (Rongowhakaata) and Rutene 
Irwin (Te Aitanga a Mahaki, Ngai Tai). 
In attendance at various hui have been 
28th (Maori) Battalion veterans Sir 
Henare Ngata, Nolan Raihania, John 
Waititi, Bill Te Kani, Tautini Glover and 
Pom Walker who have added their first 
hand experiences of the war. 

Ngata Memorial lectures 2010. Final evening’s speakers Trish Hina, Erana Keelan-Reedy (first two on 
left) and Kahurangi Waititi (far right) join rangatahi presenters Hineteariki Parata-Walker, Awhina 
Rickard, Hinekehu Collier Campbell, Leanne Hollis, Karli and Taimania Rickard. The thorns amongst 

the roses are behind: Rua Tipoki (MC for the evening), Monty Soutar and Selwyn Parata.

“Ahi Kaa” - the 
people who keep 

the home fires 
burning.
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TRONP recently created a DVD 
resource based on the footage 
from all of the hui since September 
2009. The DVD, a celebration of 
our pakeke’s in depth knowledge of 
te reo Maori is in both English and 
Maori and has been made available 
to Ngati Porou and Te Whanau a 
Apanui schools who have attended 
the wananga. It is available to all 
schools in the C Company rohe.

Additional resources are planned 
including the publishing of the 
completed work in Maori. Ka nui 
te mihi ki a koutou i whai wahi ki te 
tautoko i te kaupapa nei. Me ahatia? 
Hei tuku rawa ki nga uri whakatipu e 
ngakaunui ana ki te korero Maori.

Ngati Porou Alternative Energy 
Project  
At the beginning of 2011 TRONP 
undertook a pilot study (funded 
by TPK) to see whether alternative 
energy is both a practical and realistic 
solution for East Coast communities. 

Participating in the project were 
Radio Ngati Porou (RNP representing 
business), the Wiwi Nati Marae Cluster 
(WNMC representing hapu) and 
Pakihiroa Station (PFL representing iwi). 
A governance group was established 
to provide guidance and expertise 
and the members were Lance Rickard 
(PFL), Ned Ihaka chairman (WNMC), 
Tina Porou (WNMC), Erana Reedy 
(RNP), Ron Hedley (community), Peter 
Swann (Eastland Group).

Three criteria were used to 
determine the most viable options 
for alternative energy: sustainability 
and environmental impact, security 
of supply, and economics. The study 
recommended that where ever 
possible energy efficiencies should be 
made to reduce energy consumption. 
The implementation of effective 
insulation and hot water heating units 
were among some of the suggestions. 
The replacement of high-energy 
fridges and freezers with low-energy 
versions would also help to reduce 
electrical demand. 

Currently 79% of the East Coast 
electricity supply comes from 
renewable sources like commercial 
hydro and wind turbine schemes. 
Instead of rejecting the grid the 
study suggests Ngati Porou should 
embrace it. In the case of the marae 
and radio station it found that stand-
alone energy generation limited the 
accessibility to alternative power. 
However, if we had sites within the 
region where a continuous security 

“Currently 79% of the East Coast 
electricity supply comes from renewable 
sources like commercial hydro and wind 

turbine schemes”

Nga Taonga A Nga Tama Toa Trust 
wishes to thank all those
who participated in the
process of translating

NGA TAMA TOA THE PRICE OF CITIZENSHIP

DVD CONTENT

- Te Reo o Ngati Porou [30minutes]
- Nga take e pa ana ki te whakamaori i te 
pukapuka [22minutes]
- Nga ahuatanga o te Reo Maori [10 minutes]

Nga Tama Toa Translation Hui, Lawson Field Theatre, Gisborne.
Ki muri: Monty Soutar, Wiremu Kaa, nga tauira o Kuranui, Tuhimoana Butler-Gamble

Ki mua: Jossie Kaa, the late Dr Koro Dewes, Kate Walker ratau ko John Waititi.
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for Radio Ngati Porou. This not 
only assisted the station, but it also 
allowed Paora to build networks and 
create new relationships. Highlights 
for the year include:

• Paora Brooking representing 
Te Whanau a Apanui and Ngati 
Porou at the 2010 World Trade 
Expo in Shanghai.

• Promotion in the Great New 
Zealand Touring Route booklet.

• Visit to Maunga Hikurangi by 
Peter Hillary. Peter is in the 
midst of compiling a list of the 
seven most important summits 
in the North Island, and whilst 
the final seven are still to be 
agreed, Hikurangi is almost 
certain to be one of them.

Te Whanau a Apanui Kapahaka perform at Shanghai Expo (Paora 
Brooking-Tourism Coordinator front row right).

Peter Hillary (center) and Friends with Maui 
Tikitiki a Taranga.

Ngata Memorial Lectures 2010 at Porourangi Marae.

of alternative energy supply exists, 
there is the potential to power all 
our communities by feeding back to 
the grid.   Any excess generated could 
also provide economic benefits to our 
whanau, marae and hapu.  

Sir Apirana Ngata Memorial 
Lectures 
Sponsored by ANZ, Koha magazine 
and Te Puni Kokiri this year’s lecture 
series was held over three days and 
nights in October. There were day 
sessions on the offshore drilling 
response near East Cape, an update 
on the Treaty negotiations and a 
translation session of Nga Tama Toa. 
Entertaining and engaging evening 
addresses were delivered by Sir Wira 
Gardiner and Tukoroirangi Morgan 
on the post-settlement experiences 
of Ngati Awa and Tainui respectively. 
Tina Porou and Barry Soutar provided 
insight into innovation and business. 
The final night focused on our 

rangatahi and (proving 
Ngati Porou women 
really do run the show 
and are taking us into 
the future!) we heard 
from Erana Keelan-
Reedy on the Huinga 
Rangatahi which 
she organised in the 
1980s, Kahurangi 
Waititi on her career 
as a professional 
netballer and Trish 
Hina - a world 
champion winning 
Black Fern and national 
representative in 
three sporting codes. 
They were followed 

by a powerful summary of the event 
from our rangatahi who, over the 
three days, had been discussing their 
present and future contributions to 
Ngati Porou. 

A highlight of the 3 day event was 
a visit by all to Porourangi Marae at 
Waiomatatini where Selwyn Parata 
delivered a whakapapa session linking 
everybody up. The Matauranga team 
co-ordinated logistics, catering, 
people, funding, webcasting and 
promotion to ensure it was one of our 
most ambitious and successful Ngata 
Memorial Lectures to date!

Ngati Porou Tourism Report:
It has been a very quiet year for 
tourism with visitor numbers down 
as expected with the effects of the 
recession. To make up for the reduced 
income the Ngati Porou Tourism 
Coordinator Paora Brooking used a 
portion of his time selling advertising 

Rutene Irwin e tu ana kei roto i tona tipuna whare. Ko te hui 
whakamaori i tu ki te marae o Torere, Tihema 2010. E noho ana 
mai i te taha maui ki te taha katau: Hunaara Tangaere, Nolan 
Raihania, Bill Te Kani, Walton Walker, Jesse Aupouri, Rutene, 

Tuhimoana Butler-Gamble, Jossie me Wiremu Kaa.
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Kei hea 
ra Koe 
Kei hea ra koe e ngaro nei i ahau,
Kei tawhiti kei tua o nga ngaru,
He ngaro roa, he ngaro aroha,
He mamae nui e ngau nei i ahau

Takoto mai, e tama i mamao
I raro i nga whetu o Itari e
Tu ake nei ko Kapurangi e tama
Ano ra ko to tinana e.

Kei hea ra koe, was written to 
commemorate Kapurangi Karaka, 
Amiria Waitoa’s nephew, who was 
killed in action in Italy during WW2 
and buried there. Many young men 
like Kapurangi were killed in their 
prime and never returned home. 
Kei hea ra koe, describes the pain 
and loss this whanau felt. His family 
presented the Kapurangi Memorial 
rugby trophy in his honour, which is 
contested annually.

We were successful in maintaining current 
government contracts and securing five 
new contracts to further support whanau in 
need.  These contracts were Family Centred 
Services, Community Response, Tairawhiti 
School Attendance Service, Fresh Start – Youth 
& Supervised Activity programme and the 
Whanau Innovation, Integration & Engagement 
(WIIE) fund.

The Family Centred services enabled the Hapu 
Social Services group comprising self-selected, 
voluntary representatives from eleven hapu/
communities to continue their work in supporting 
hapu capability building in the areas of detection, 
reduction of family violence and rebuilding 
whanau and hapu care and protection capability 
& capacity. 

The Community Respond Fund allowed us to 
work with unskilled 16-24 year olds with low 
or no qualifications whose chances of getting 
work are limited while the Tairawhiti School 
Attendance Service provided the opportunity to 
work with 51 schools, students & their whanau, 
community groups and government agencies to 

address truancy and non-enrolled truancy.  This 
was no easy task given that Gisborne has one of 
the highest truancy rates in New Zealand.  

Fresh Start worked in nicely with the Nga Reo 
Tautoko programme which targets 14-16 year 
olds who are at risk of offending and/or re-

Whanau 
ORANGA

“Gisborne has one of the highest 
truancy rates in New Zealand.”



offending and uses tikanga 
based practices aimed at 
getting our young people to 
modify their behaviour.

The WIIE fund was utilised 
by the Kaitoko Whanau to 
support five whanau that 
they were working with to 
develop their own wellbeing 
outcomes and work toward 
achieving these outcomes.  
These new contracts 
compliment the existing 
nineteen services offered 
through the Whanau 
Oranga unit and created 
employment for a further 
six people. 

Overall another positive year with each month bringing new 
opportunities and growth for the Whanau Oranga unit.

2010

\
20

11

Whanau Oranga 
Initiatives

July 2010
Explore Pakeke housing development through Housing New 
Zealand Corporation (HNZC) Maori Demonstration Fund.

August
Application submitted to Ministry of Social Development 
(MSD) for Community Max which is a programme targeting 
unskilled 16 to 24 year olds with low or no qualifications 
whose chances of getting work are limited.

September
Meeting held with Home & Dry to discuss retrofit programme 
for the Ngati Porou/East Coast region.  

October
Horouta Whanaunga comprising Te Runanga o Ngati Porou, 
Ngati Porou Hauora, Hauiti Hauora, Te Runanga o Te Whanau 
a Apanui, Te Runanga o Turanganui a Kiwa & Turanga Health 
named as successful Whanau Ora collective for Gisborne/
East Coast district.

November
Accepted offer by Child Youth & Family Service (CYFS) to 
deliver Fresh Start - Youth Programme and Supervised 
Activity programme.  

December
The inaugural Career Expo was held at Te Poho-o-Rawiri 
Marae with a conservative estimate of 100 young people 
visiting the 27 industry and training providers in attendance.  
The providers reported a good number of registrations 
for 2011; 24 for Tairawhiti Polytechnic, 22 for Matapuna 
Training Centre and 20 registrations for Te Whare Wananga 
o Aotearoa.  

January 2011
TRONP invited by the Ministry of Education to participate in a 
pilot programme for 2011.  The Tairawhiti School Attendance 
Service is a programme that has evolved from the former 
District Truancy Service with the incorporation of the Non-
enrolled Truancy Service which was formerly operated 
nationally.  The programme focuses on improving attendance 
at school and returning long term absentees to school.  The 
Runanga is the current provider for East Coast schools and 
schools in the Kaiti region - 22 schools in total.

February
Evaluation of the Nga Reo Tautoko (Youth at Risk of 
Offending) programme completed utilising an intern from 
Massey University. 

March
Community Max secured to December 2011 which meant 
employment for more young people aged 16 -24.

April
TRONP accepts MOE request to become the Provider of 
the Tairawhiti School Attendance Service (TSAS) for the 
Gisborne/East Coast region for the term of the pilot – 51 
schools in total. 

May 
Community Response Fund secured to support young people 
into employment or training. Whanau Integration Innovation 
& Engagement fund secured to assist with the development 
of whanau plans and assist with the implementation of their 
desired outcomes. 5 new staff employed for Tairawhiti School 
Attendance Service.

June
9 tauira complete the first ever Ngati Porou certificate in 
Iwi Social Services. Family Centred Services fund secured to 
deliver whanau violence education programmes through the 
Hapu Social Services group.

72 young people take advantage of Community Max of which 
25 are now in full time employment, three are at university 
and a further five are in training.  Seven are still employed on 
Community Max.  

Graduates of the Hapu Social Services training programme – National 
Certificate in Iwi/Maori Social Services.

Kaitoko Whanau: Janine Peters and Reihana Tipoki

CMax employees completing 
ATV training.
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51 Grant recipients
Awatere Marae

Hauiti Marae
Hinemaurea ki Mangatuna

Hinemaurea ki Wharekahika
Hinetamatea Marae/Anaura Marae

Hiruharama Marae
Iritekura Marae
Kaiwaka Marae

Kakariki/Rakaihoea Marae
Kariaka Marae

Karuai Marae
Kie Kie Marae

Mangahanea Marae
Mangarua Marae

Matahi o Te Tau Marae
Ohinewaiapu Marae

Okuri Marae
Pakirikiri Marae

Pitkitanga Marae
Porourangi Marae

Potaka Marae
Puketawai Marae
Putaanga Marae

Rahui Marae
Raikairoa Marae/Harataunga Marae

Reporua Marae
Rongo i te Kai Marae

Rongohaere Marae
Taharora Marae

Tairawhiti Marae
Taumata o Tapuhi Marae

Te Ao Hou Marae
Te Aowera Marae

Te Horo Marae
Te Kahika Marae

Te Rawheoro
Tikapa Marae

Tinatoka Marae
Tutaini Marae

Tutua Marae
Umuariki Marae

Waiparapara Marae
Whangara Mai Tawhiti Marae

Whareponga Marae
Hinerupe

Te Ariuru Marae
Ruataupare ki Tuparoa Marae

Rauru Marae
Te Poho o Rawiri Marae 

Uepohatu Marae 

Tenei ka mihi atu ki te hunga na ratau te rawa moana i waiho mai hei taonga ano 
ma tatau.
 
This is the sixth and may well be the last Annual General Meeting of the Porou Ariki 
Trust since under the new settlement legislation (expected to be passed in 2012) PAT 
will no longer exist and Te Runanganui o Ngati Porou will become the Mandated Iwi 
Organisation (MIO) under the Maori Fisheries Act. This will also mean governance, 
which up until now could comprise of 27 trustees (20 responsible and 7 advisory 
trustees), will be reduced to 14 members.

PAT’s inaugural AGM was convened in April 2007 at Pakirikiri Marae, Tokomaru 
Bay. Later that year the PAT AGM was synchronized with the runanga’s reporting 
requirements so that PAT also reported on the four months from 1 March to 30 
June 2007.  Since then, annually, the Trust has reported on four strategic focus 
areas: mandating requirements and asset securement, planning and management, 
protecting value and sustainability of our fisheries assets and interests, and good 
governance. The board met four times in the past year which is the minimum required 
under its Trust Deed. Savings were achieved both in trustees’ fees and in administration 
support. However the Trust finished the year with a small deficit of $7,292.

DISTRIBUTION OF TRUST FUNDS
This year $230,000 was the annual dividend that PAT received from NPSL.

This year, for the first time, PAT also received $282,766, which amounted to 50% of 
the AFL dividend that was paid to NPSL. According to PAT’s Distribution of Trust Funds 
policy para 3.3:

The AFL Dividend will be split 50/50 between NPFL and the Trust. The Distribution of 
the Trust’s portion of the dividend will be based on:

Porou Ariki
TRUST

In 2012 Te Runanganui o Ngati Porou will own on behalf of Ngati Porou all 
fisheries assets, which are currently held by Te Runanga o Ngati Porou as the 
Trustee of PAT. At settlement, the subsidiaries of Te Runanga o Ngati Porou and 
PAT will continue to operate with their respective employees, however, these 
subsidiaries will be owned by  Te Runanganui o Ngati Porou.

According to PAT’s Distribution of Trust Funds policy, the $230,000 was to 
be allocated as follows:

•  46,000    20% retained by PAT to meet its own strategic,  
  governance and operational responsibilities

• 23,000   10% Education Trust Fund

• 161,000  70% invested in ‘to tatou Ngati Poroutanga’ of  
  which:
- 75% Marae grants at $120,750
- 15% Significant NP projects (grants & sponsorships) at $24,150
- 10% Ngati Porou Calendar of Events at $16,100



70 % invested in “to tatou Ngati Poroutanga”  of which;

•  75 % to be applied to Ngati Porou Marae grants

•  15 % to be applied to ‘significant’ Ngati Porou projects 

•  10 % to be applied to support events in the Ngati Porou 
Calendar of Events

 Of the remaining 30%, the first $60K is to go to Taura 
Here (this budget allows $3K per Taura Here group) and 
the remaining amount will be put into an endowment 
fund.

This meant that the total dividend PAT had to distribute 
was $512,766.

Marae Grants
This year 51 marae were entitled to a grant of $6,000 each, a 
total of $306,000. Since the year 2000 almost two and a quarter 
million dollars ($2,243,200) has been paid as grants to Ngati 
Porou marae.

Education Trust Fund
Each year ten per cent of the dividend is invested as part of the 
Education Trust Fund that was started six years ago. $23,000 was 
added this year bringing the total to $355,000. The aim was to 
build the fund up to $1 million and then distribute the annual 
interest as contestable education scholarships.

Calendar of Events
$35,893 was made available to support the Runanga’s Calendar 
of Events which this year included  the Matariki Festival, Ta 
Apirana Ngata Memorial Lectures, Hui Taurima (non-competitive 
kapa haka), Pakeke Day, Hikurangi Maunga Dawn Ceremony and 
Pa Wars. 

Grants & Sponsorships 
Part of the dividends were also used to support Ngati Porou 
individuals, groups, events and activities which promote Ngati 
Porou in all arenas locally, regionally and nationally.  This year 
$53,840 was available. The following groups received grants 
totalling 47,213. By sponsoring East Coast rugby and Te Matatini-
o-te-Ra, which this year was held at Wai-o-Hika Estate near 
Gisborne, the PAT board felt more Ngati Porou people would be 
benefiting from the distribution of funds.

Performance of RFL and NPFL
The PAT board monitor the performance of Real Fresh Ltd and Ngati 
Porou Fisheries Ltd by requesting a full report from the General 
Manager of NPSG while the ARF Committee received a summarised 
report that focuses on key risks and how they are managed. 

Directors’ Terms Extended
Last year the PAT board agreed to extend the NPSG directors’ 
term of appointment for 12 months to October 2011 to allow 
for the transition from TRONP to Te Runanganui o Ngati Porou. 
As the transition will not be completed until some time next 
year the PAT Board granted the directors a further extension 
to May 2012 or for a shorter period if the elected board of Te 
Runanganui o Ngati Porou makes different appointments. Only 
one of the five directors, Tracey Tangihaere, was unable to serve 
a further period.

PAT Grants Amount

East Coast Rugby Football Union
Sponsorship

$15,000

Te Matatini-o-te-ra
Sponsorship

$25,000

L. Riki
World waka ama

$100

Lewis Taiapa
Taiapa whanau in NZ Inline Hockey Team

$300

Ruatoria Taekwondo
Taekwondo champs, Australia

$300

Rick Paenga (TSCFC)
Turanganui Schools Maori Festival

$500

Mathew Len Matenga
International AsiaPacific Bodybuilding Championship

$300

Kaiti School
Equipment for surfing program

$1000

Gisborne Lions Club
Children to attend world festival of lights

$50

Ngati Porou U15 Girls Basketball
Attend national finals

$300

Tena Baker, Maori Womans Welfare League
Sponsor national conference in Gisborne

$500

Joelle King
National and international Squash

$500

ECRFU
100 years of Maori centennial Rugby dinner

$300

East Coast Secondary Schools
End of year prize giving [$75 per School]

$450

Te Araroa Progressive Association    
Annual Christmas Parade

$300

Te Oho Mauri McClutchie
Special Olympics in Greece, Assistant NZ Basketball 
Coach

$ 100

Ra McGhee (Te Kakano Aroha O Ihowa Trust)   
Sidewalk Sunday Schools for kids in Kaiti

$300

Angela Cudd     
Entry into Miss Aotearoa NZ 2011

$100

Ani Pahuru-Huriwai - Koha/Photocopy expenses plus 
petrol 
Support for Ahi Ka Action Group against mining/
drilling/tracking

$350

Taryne Papuni
Daughter Atawhai Papuni-Hohepa’s entry into 
Martial Arts Match, YMCA

$100

Phil Reid, East Cape Hunting, Fishing & Tourism Club 
Inc
for inaugral Fishing Competition

$100

Michelle Rangihuna - Fish koha   
Putaanga Marae requests fish sponsorship

$163

Hoana Forrester, Tolaga Bay Area School   
Support to host National Secondary Schools Ki-o-
Rahi tournament in May

$500

Manutangirua Papuni-Iles     
Nga Tima o Ngatiporou Pahikete Poro to go to 
Rotorua basketball 

$300

Edna Osborne, Tomairangi Kohanga Reo  
Koha towards opening of new Kohanga whare, 
Queens birthday weekend.

$100

Hoana Forrester, Tolaga Bay Area School   
Cultural exchange group to Hawaii 

$200

Total $47,213
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Highlights: 
• Tairawhiti regional winners in the 2011 Ahuwhenua Trophy competition.

• An outstanding profit result $924,691. S$43,781 in (2009).

• Value of Company Assets up to $4,297,964.

• Equity improves by 38% to $3,116,822.

• Dividend of $60,000 declared. 

Ahuwhenua Trophy
Our success as Regional winners in the 2011 Ahuwhenua Competition allowed us to join 
previous Tairawhiti regional winners Matariki, Marotiri and 2009 Trophy winner Whangara 
Farms to showcase Ngati Porou farming. The Ahuwhenua Competition presented the 
company with an opportunity to open Pakihiroa to Ngati Porou and the public.  We were 
humbled by your response and despite torrential rainfall hosted more than 300 people 
at Mangahanea, with about 200 making the farm tour.  The company intends to use the 
opportunity created by our success to work more collaboratively with other Ngati Porou 
owned farming businesses.
 
Governance
A six-member board has oversight of the company’s operation.   Once our shareholders 
restructuring process is complete, a rotation of directors will commence to ensure proper 
accountability.  At a strategic level the directors continue to seek opportunities to grow our 
business.  This includes an interest in further property acquisition or working in conjunction 
with other Ngati Porou farming operations.

Operations:
After three very challenging years, 2010-2011 was a very good year to be farming.
Climatically conditions were excellent. This resulted in heavier, better conditioned stock for 
the Group. For several important production parameters we saw gains on 2009. 

• Average lamb sale weights were 18% heavier than in 2010 at 40kg.
• The number of hoggets in lamb doubled to 870,
• The number of lambs born increased as by 9.4% to 6719 head.

Even at this early stage of the new financial year we can report

• the number of hoggets in lamb was 1175
• scanning is 172%

Both these measures suggest even more lambs will be born in this financial year.

Pakihiroa
FARMS LTD



At a national level we have seen land-use 
change and a loss of confidence in sheep 
farming.  Fewer sheep at a time of growing 
demand for quality New Zealand food 
contributed to a significant price lift for sheep 

meats and indeed all New Zealand farm 
commodities. Even an exchange rate that has 
appreciated by around 20% during this time 
has not dampened demand. 

With the company having both a breeding 
(Pakihiroa) and finishing units (Puanga) we 
have some control over the supply chain and 
were able to capture the higher returns within 
the business.  In some ways this is a similar 
strategy to the fishing company that has a 
wholesale and retail operation. 
During the past three years, we have invested 
heavily in infrastructure, stock genetics and 
information systems. The planned building 
of covered yards on Pakihiroa and new 
stockyard on Puanga will bring to an end 
this phase of our intensification program. 
Future expenditure on such items will be 
reduced allowing us to focus on fertiliser, debt 
reduction. Expenditure priorities have been 
upgrading fencing and yards. 

Some extra expense was incurred as a result 
of our participation in the Ahuwhenua. 
In addition to costs of hosting manuhiri, 
preparation for field day included upgrading 

“We hope what we are creating at 
Pakihiroa is something all of you will 

take pride in”

our tracking to ensure manuhiri were able to 
get around the farm safely and a new retaining 
wall was built around the manager’s home. 
We hope what we are creating at Pakihiroa is 
something all of you will take pride in.

On Puanga we have applied capital fertiliser 
and continued our fencing program to allow 
us to better control production levels.
Other items of expenditure to increase 
included administration as we looked for 
opportunities to grow the company. 

Balance Sheet 
At 30 June the company had total assets 
$4,297,964. This excludes Pakihiroa itself 
which remains in our shareholders balance 
sheet. Most of the improvement in assets 
a result of the revaluation of livestock 
owned by the company. We recorded a 
small reduction in term debt $994,588. The 
Company had term loans of $900,000. With 
our intensification program coming to an 
end, the directors are continuing to evaluate 
opportunities for the company. 

Governance 
The company is now into its third year of 
operation as a stand-alone entity within the 
larger Te Runanga on Ngati Porou Group 
Consistent with “best practice” the directors 
make time to meet in the absence of our 
farm supervisor (who is also a director) and 

the managers.  This allows for a free and 
frank discussion about any matters that may 
concern other board members. 
At the time the company was established, it 
was intended that a rotation of directors be 
established to ensure both accountability 
and transparency. With the imminent 
restructuring of our shareholder the directors 
consider the matter of board appointments 
should be addressed after restructuring of 
the Ngati Porou group has been completed.  
Consistent with the principles outlined 
when the company was established we 
will be making a recommendation to our 
shareholder about establishing a rotation 
of director retirements.  This is again in the 
interest of best practice and to reinforce the 
accountability of those fortunate to sit at the 
Board table.  The shareholder may of course 
determine to reappoint those offering to 
stand down.

Appreciation 
The Board records its appreciation to our 
managers, Luke Scragg and Wayne Akuhata 
Brown for their excellent contribution.

On behalf of Pakihiroa Board of Directors

ST Parata
Chairman
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Chairman’s Mihi
Piki mai kake mai
Homai te waiora e tu te hu ana
Mai te kuia i te po po
Ka ao ka ao
Ka awatea

E hika ma tena kotou.
Kua tae ano ki te whakatakoto ki mua ia kotou nga whakanekenekehanga a to
kotou kamupene a Ngati Porou Seafoods.
I teneki wa tou, me whai waeho ai te poroporoaki ki a ratau kua haere ki tua o 
te arai. Ratau ki a ratau era, apiti atu te whakaaro ki a Te Kapunga Matemoana 
me ona hoa haere i te tau kua oti nei. Nana, na ratau kotahi i pakanga kia riro ai 
nga kete kei a tatau inaianei. Na reira me mihi ake ka tika. Heoi ano, ko tatau nga 
kanohi ora kia kaha tatau ki te ngaki i o ratau werawera.
Ki nga Kaitieki o te PAT, tena kotou i to kotou na akiaki ki te kamupene kia pakari te 
haere, kia kore hoki e wareware te wa kaenga. Ki nga ringa mahi o te kamupene, 
e hika ma, tena ano kotou. Na kotou i tango i nga ika, na kotou i tarai kia tae pai 
ki te wahi hoko. Hei reira ka whai hua tatau.
Otiia, kei mua ata ta tatau haere, kua raupa nga ringaringa, a, kia tu mo ake tonu 
ta tatau kamupene me te ngahoro mai o nga hua kei te puta mai.

Kia ora

Ngati Porou
SEAFOODS GROUP

Remaining Board Members appointed for the period 2008 - 2011

Geoff Milner Dean Moana Chris Insley Tracey Tangihaere
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Highlights:

•  Delivery of a profitable group result in very 
challenging economic and environment

 conditions is rewarding.

•  Operational profit doubled against 2010 result and 
we will be looking to continue this trend into the 
new year.

•  While Real Fresh did not achieve its target it did show 
a significant improvement achieved against 2010 
results. Further changes to the shop and promotion 
of the business will ensure targets in the new year 
are achieved.

• Staff development is an ongoing strategic
 objective for the business. It is pleasing to
 report that staff knowledge and experience has 

improved this year and is in a good position to meet 
future challenges.

• Playing a major role in establishing the Iwi
 Collective Partnership (ICP) business which involves 

the fishing quota of 12 iwi was a real privilege and 
provides tremendous opportunities for the future.

• An important part of the ICP business and success 
was developing key partnerships. This was achieved 
through multi year quota agreements with Sanford, 
Aotearoa Fisheries Ltd, and Pelco Ltd, which have 
already proved beneficial for the ICP and Ngati 
Porou Seafoods Group.

• Introducing contract processing at our Gisborne 
site increased volumes, employment opportunities, 
and we are now looking at other manufacturing 
initiatives to add value.

• Sponsorship. This year we sponsored two 
organisations, namely, Gisborne Boys High School 
and the East Coast Rugby Union which have been 
very positive for our business.

This past year has been another chapter in an ongoing 
growth story for our Company. It was an important 
year as we completed a number of reshaping projects 
and reaffirmed confidence in our Company‟s ability to 
weather an extraordinary global economic crisis while 
continuing to grow. 

 
Ngati Porou Seafoods Group has reported a net profit before 
interest and tax for the 12 months ended 30th June 2011 of 
$1.439m (2010 profit $760k) from total revenue of $4.5m 
(2010 $4.0m).
In a ‘Growing world looking for high quality fresh food’ 
the opportunities before us are tremendous and the next 
twelve to eighteen months will be critical in defining our 
Company‟s future growth and partnerships.
I am pleased to share with you the 2011 Annual Report that 
reflects the passion and determination that the women and 
men of Ngati Porou Seafoods Group have contributed to 
helping the Company continue to grow. I look forward to 
continuing to share our stories with you.

“Ko te tiaki te moana me ona rawa, ka taea te
whakahiato nga kai moana tokomaha rawa
atu ma Ngati Porou me ona hapu mo ake

tonu atu”

By Mark Ngata (General Manager)
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Operations
Last year we conducted harvesting, processing, 
sales, and distribution activities. This year those 
activities were part of a joint venture operation 
with Aotearoa Fisheries. This provided more 
opportunities to expand our processing activities 
with significantly higher volume throughput 
and product mix which created employment 
opportunities also. All products produced are 
distributed to domestic and export markets like 
Japan, China, USA, and Australia, which is a step 
up from last year.
This could not be achieved without maintaining a 
high standard of compliance to international food 
safety standards. Our plant is currently at the 
highest level of food safety accreditation which is 
due to a great effort by Evelyn Walker the Factory 
Manager and the team.

We take this very seriously and have internal 
programmes for Occupational Health and Safety, 
Licensed Fish Receiving (LFR), Quota Management 
and Inventory Systems.

This cost of compliance is a necessary but 
increasing part of this business but equally 
opens up new opportunities for NPSG in contract 
manufacturing of higher value added products 
which we are exploring. Part of this is developing 
management in new technology and systems 
and this year senior management undertook a 
manufacturing training course which will assist 
them in turning operations into a more learner, 
more focused and motivated team ready to meet 
the new challenges.

Our People
Training and development of our people is a key 
outcome for the business. It has been a busy year 
for training and development of staff at all levels 
within the business with a number of initiatives 
completed within key sectors of the business that 
will benefit us in future growth areas.

Director Standing Down
I would like to make special mention of one of 
our directors who has unfortunately had to step 
down due to changing career paths and work 
commitments.
Tracey Tangihaere was appointed in 2008 and was 
the chairperson of our Human Resources Sub-
Committee which developed many of the policies 
and procedures that the Company still operates 
under. Tracey has also contributed significantly 
to the restructuring of our business through 
challenging times and always had the welfare 
of staff first and foremost in her mind. Thanks 
for your time and significant contribution to the 
Company and we wish you all the very best for 
your future endeavours.

Tony Pereira
Operations Manager

Te Runanga o N
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Science & Innovation Key To Future Growth:
Ngati Porou Seafoods Group is nearing the end of its 
five year strategic plan. It‟s the perfect time now to 
review what was and wasn‟t achieved against that plan 
as well as looking beyond 2011 to identify key areas 
of opportunity to grow the business further. Lesley 
McLeod, Ngati Porou, has joined the team to assist with 
this task particularly from a Research & Development 
perspective. She has a dual degree in marine biology 
and aquaculture and is currently completing her PHD in 
koura larval behavior which could prove useful for us in 
the future as koura is the highest value specie within the 
quota management system (QMS). Her priority at this 
point is to complete three key projects that will assist 
in identifying and developing a clear strategic direction 
forward based on science and innovation.

a.  Value Chain; identify the optimal value sectors 
within the NZ seafood industry that NPSG can 
realistically target. 

b.  Aquaculture; what is currently happening in NZ 
and Australia, is it a viable proposition on the East 
Coast, if so, what species does the market demand 
and can we deliver it.

c.  By-Products: How can NPSG create more value 
through better utilization of its fish waste. 

Lesley has developed strong networks within the 
industry and is collating an information resource that 
will be invaluable to NP. She has completed phase one 
of the value chain and is currently busy on phase two 
within aquaculture. Watch this space ...

Strategic Partnerships Key To Future Growth:
The importance of key relationships and partnerships has 
been recognised for sometime. This year saw a number 
of strategic partnerships implemented with extremely 
positive outcomes. The ICP (Iwi Collective Partnership) 
was established in October 2010 comprising the quota 
assets of 12 iwi groups under a unique limited partnership 
structure. A board of directors of 6 shareholders was 
appointed to manage the business of the ICP which 
includes 16,000 tonnes of fish quota.

This was a major step for these iwi who had been 
previously just leasing their quota annually. A number of 
strategic partnerships in key sectors were also developed 
by the ICP to promote improved returns, opportunities 
for investment and participation, as well as improved 
fishery knowledge. Sanford was identified as the best 
partner within the deepwater fisheries and Moana 
Pacific using key inshore species that are harvested, 
processed, and sold to domestic and global markets.
Lasting relationships and partnerships do not just happen 
therefore proactive management, transparency, clear 
information, regular communications and meetings will 
be important in maintaining the integrity of these key 
partnerships. Ngati Porou Seafoods is taking a leading
role within the ICP activities.

ICP Shareholders hui at Puniho Marae,
New Plymouth

Lesley McLeod
R&D Researcher
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Ika Hou:
Most if not all of you by now would have seen our 
mobile fish truck up and down the Coast and at 
the Farmers Market in Gisborne.

This has been a great initiative and is proving very 
successful and popular. I want to thank all of you 
for your support which is critical for the success 
of this business initiative in taking our fish to the 
people. While it has only just started we hope 
to add to the range of products available in due 
course so watch this space.

Looking To The Future:
The business world around us is changing and 
includes the parent structures above us as the 
Ngati Porou Settlement looks to be implemented 
in the new year.

To ensure our business will continue to grow 
and thrive over the next twelve months and 
beyond we are looking ahead to understand the 
trends and forces that will shape our industry in 
the future.

Our strategy creates a long term destination for 
our business and provides us with goals that 
outline what we need to accomplish internally and 
with our partners in order to continue sustainable 
growth.
Ngati Porou Seafoods strategy will continue to 
focus in areas where we can be profitable and look 
to partner and work co-operatively with other 
seafood industry players, including iwi, to be 
more competitive on a national and global front. 
In this regard we are currently working through a 
number of key strategic initiatives that will assist 
us in achieving those deliverables.

Also within the next 12 months Ngati Porou 
Seafoods Group will become part of the new Te 
Runanganui o Ngati Porou settlement structure. 
This will bring new challenges and opportunities 
for the Seafoods group.
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Toro Noa 
I ki ahau kua ngaro noa
Nga whakaaro kei ahau,
He kore rawa ra nohou e aro nui,
Kia whakato te ra, 
Ka ngau te aroha,
Hei reira ahau ka koingo.

Toro noa aku ringa,
Ka kimi aku kamo,
Karanga noa nga ngutu, 
Ki te tau hei awhitanga e.

In 1967 the Tikitiki City Rugby Club 
asked Henare Waitoa to compose 
a song for the team to sing at a 
tournament in Waipawa. Toro Noa is 
Henare’s interpretation of the song 
‘And My Shoes Keep Walking Back 
To You.
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Trustees’ Responsibility Statement
For the Year Ended 30 June 2011

The Trustees’ are responsible for the preparation, in accordance with New Zealand law 
and generally accepted accounting practice, of financial statements which give a true and 
fair view of the financial position of Te Runanga o Ngati Porou and group as at 30 June 
2011 and the results of their operations and cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2011.

The Trustees’ consider that the financial statements of Te Runanga o Ngati Porou and the 
group have been prepared using accounting policies appropriate to the company and 
group circumstances, consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent 
judgments and estimates, and that all applicable New Zealand Equivalents to
International Financial Reporting Standards have been followed.

The Trustees’ have responsibility for ensuring that proper accounting records have been 
kept which enable, with reasonable accuracy, the determination of the financial position 
of Te Runanga o Ngati Porou and group and enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Financial Reporting Act 1993.

The Trustees’ have responsibility for the maintenance of a system of internal control 
designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of financial 
reporting. The Trustees’ consider that adequate steps have been taken to safeguard the 
assets of the company and group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Trustees’ are pleased to present the financial statements of Te Runanga o Ngati Porou 
and group for the year ended 30 June 2011. This annual report is dated 11 November 
2011 and is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Trustees made on the same 
date. 

For and on behalf of the Trustees

Dr A. Mahuika  A. Papuni
Chairman Board of Trustees Trustee. Chair - Audit Risk & Finance 
Committee
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE READERS OF 
TE RUNANGA O NGATI POROU AND GROUP’S

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Te Runanga O Ngati Porou (the Trust Board) and Group. The 
Auditor-General has appointed me, Bruno Dente, using the staff and resources of Deloitte, to carry out 
the audit of the financial statements of the Trust Board and Group on her behalf. 

We have audited the financial statements of the Trust Board and Group on pages 40 to 81, that 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2011 the statement of comprehensive 
income, statement of movements in equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that 
date and the notes to the financial statements that include accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.

Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements of the Trust Board and Group on pages 40 to 81:

- comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and

- fairly reflect the Trust Board and Group’s:

- financial position as at 30 June 2011; and

- financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Our audit was completed on 11 November 2011. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed.

The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board of 
Trustees and our responsibilities, and we explain our independence.

Basis of opinion

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, and the 
International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand). Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and carry out our audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that would affect a 
reader’s overall understanding of the financial statements. If we had found material misstatements that 
were not corrected, we would have referred to them in our opinion.

An audit involves carrying out procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including our 
assessment of risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the preparation of the 
Trust Board and Group’s of financial statements that fairly reflect the matters to which they relate. We 
consider internal control in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Trust Board and Group’s 
internal control.

An audit also involves evaluating:

- the appropriateness of accounting policies used and whether they have been consistently 
applied;

- the reasonableness of the significant accounting estimates and judgements made by the 
Board of Trustees;
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- the adequacy of all disclosures in the financial statements; and

- the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the financial 
statements. We have obtained all the information and explanations we have required and we believe 
we have obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of the Board of Trustees

The Board of Trustees is responsible for preparing financial statements that:

- comply with in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and

- fairly reflect the Trust Board and Group’s financial position, financial performance and cash 
flows.

The Board of Trustees is also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.

The Board of Trustee’s responsibilities arise from the Māori Trust Boards Act 1955. 

Responsibilities of the Auditor

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and reporting 
that opinion to you based on our audit. 

Our responsibility arises from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and section 31(2) of the Māori
Trust Boards Act 1955. 

Independence 

When carrying out the audit, we followed the independence requirements of the Auditor-General, 
which incorporate the independence requirements of the New Zealand Institute of Chartered 
Accountants.

Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or interests in the Trust Board or any of its 
subsidiaries.

Bruno Dente
Deloitte
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Hamilton, New Zealand

This audit report relates to the financial statements of Te Runanga O Ngati Porou and Group for the year ended 30 June 2011 included on Te 
Runanga O Ngati Porou’s website. Te Runanga O Ngati Porou’s Board of Trustees is responsible for the maintenance and integrity of Te 
Runanga O Ngati Porou’s website. We have not been engaged to report on the integrity of Te Runanga O Ngati Porou’s website. We accept no 
responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since they were initially presented on the website. The audit 
report refers only to the financial statements named above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been 
hyperlinked to/from these financial statements. If readers of this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from electronic data 
communication they should refer to the published hard copy of the audited financial statements and related audit report dated 11 November 2011
to confirm the information included in the audited financial statements presented on this website. Legislation in New Zealand governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Te Runanga o N
gati Porou Annual Report 2011
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The accompanying Statement of Accounting Policies and Notes to the Financial 
Statements on pages 44 to 81 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
Note 2011 2010 2011 2010

NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Service Delivery Revenue 4 4,720 5,277 4,720 5,472

Commercial Trading Revenue 4 3,441 4,856 - -

Rental Income 4 - 79 104 148

Investment Revenue 736 101 57 109

Dividend Income Related Party - - 343 10

Property Acquisition - 870 - -

Share of income from associate entities 12b 1,447 - - -

Other Income 889 183 795 202

Total Income 11,233 11,366 6,019 5,941

Employee Benefit Expenses 3,423 3,241 2,668 2,325

Cost of sales from Commercial Trading Operations 4 847 1,738 - -

Depreciation Expense 4 235 213 110 111

Finance Costs 329 373 2 -

Rental Expense 80 140 58 145

Asset Impairment 500 - 500 -

Other Expenses 4 4,501 4,752 3,198 3,339

Total Expenses 9,915 10,457 6,536 5,920

Net surplus/(deficit) for the year 1,318 909 (517) 21

Other Comprehensive Income - - - -

Total Comprehensive Income 1,318 909 (517) 21

Statement of 
Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended 30 June 2011
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Statement of 
Financial Position

As at 30 June 2011 

The accompanying Statement of Accounting Policies and Notes to the Financial 
Statements on pages 44 to 81 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
Note 2011 2010 2011 2010

NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 1,613 2,225 1,702 2,496
Trade and other receivables 8 1,954 1,108 1,002 1,123
Inventories 9 33 93 - -
Total Current Assets 3,600 3,426 2,704 3,619

Non-Current Assets
Investments 10 2 - 2,494 2,494
Biological assets 14 2,304 1,553 - -
Fishing quota 15 17,481 17,481 - -
AFL income shares 16 16,886 16,886 - -
Property, plant and equipment 17 4,865 4,976 1,874 1,946
Total Non-Current Assets 41,538 40,896 4,368 4,440
Total Assets 45,138 44,322 7,072 8,059

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 18 845 1,458 616 1,136
Borrowings 19 116 98 - -
Provisions 20 255 237 158 108
Total Current Liabilities 1,216 1,793 774 1,244

Non-Current Liabilities
Borrowings 21 2,974 2,899 -  - 
Total Non-Current liabilities 2,974 2,899 - -
Total Liabilities 4,190 4,692 774 1,244
Net Assets 40,948 39,630 6,298 6,815

Equity
Reserves 22 2,703 2,703 1,499 1,499
Retained earnings 38,245 36,927 4,799 5,316
Total Equity 40,948 39,630 6,298 6,815

Te Runanga o N
gati Porou Annual Report 2011
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Statement of
Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 30 June 2011

The accompanying Statement of Accounting Policies and Notes to the Financial 
Statements on pages 44 to 81 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000
Retained Earnings

Opening Balance 36,927 36,018 5,316 5,295

Net Income Recognised Directly in Equity - - - -

Total Recognised Income and Expense for the Period

Net surplus/(deficit) for the year 1,318 909 (517) 21
Other Comprehensive Income - - - -
Closing Balance 38,245 36,927 4,799 5,316

Reserves

Opening Balance 2,703 2,703 1,499 1,499

Net Income Recognised Directly in Equity - - - -

Closing Balance 2,703 2,703 1,499 1,499

Total Equity 40,948 39,630 6,298 6,815
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Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
Note 2011 2010 2011 2010

NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash was provided from:
Service Delivery 4,670 5,184 5,140 5,324
Commercial Trading Operations 4,169 4,777 - -
Interest 33 100 57 109
Dividend 703 - 343 10
Other 559 1,133 307 559

10,134 11,194 5,847 6,002
Cash was applied to:
Payments to Suppliers and Operating Expenses (6,613) (6,775) (3,633) (3,423)
Payments to Employees, Directors and Trustees (3,405) (3,210) (2,703) (2,316)
GST 133 83 234 6
Interest (328) (373) (2) -

(10,213) (10,275) (6,104) (5,733)

NET CASH INFLOW/OUTFLOW FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 23 (79) 919 (257) 269

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash was applied to:
Purchase of Fixed Assets (124) (1,067) (37) (68)
Purchase of Investments (502) - (500) -

NET CASH INFLOW/OUTFLOWS FROM 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (626) (1,067) (537) (68)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash was provided from:
Loans and Advances 117 - - -

Cash was applied to:
Hire Purchase Activities (24) (19) - -
Loans and Advances - (989) - -

(24) (1,008) - -

NET CASH  INFLOW/OUTFLOW FROM 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 93 (1,008) - -

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH HELD (612) (1,156) (794) 201
Opening Balance of Cash 2,225 3,381 2,496 2,295

CLOSING BALANCE OF CASH 1,613 2,225 1,702 2,496

Cash Flow Statement
For the Year Ended 30 June 2011

The accompanying Statement of Accounting Policies and Notes to the Financial 
Statements on pages 44 to 81 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2011
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2011

1.  General Information 

Te Runanga o Ngati Porou operates as a Maori Trust Board in accordance with the Maori Trust Boards Act 1955. Te Runanga o 
Ngati Porou is a reporting entity for the purposes of the Financial Reporting Act 1993 and its financial statements comply with 
that Act. The principal activity of the group are the support and development of Ngati Porou through the delivery of various 
services to Ngati Porou and the prudent management of Ngati Porou commercial assets for the benefit of Ngati Porou. 

By virtue of the majority assets of the group being commercial assets, Te Runanga o Ngati Porou (inclusive of its subsidiary 
entities) is a profit orientated entity incorporated in New Zealand. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

2.1 Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in New Zealand 
(‘NZ GAAP’). They comply with the New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (‘NZ IFRS’). 

Compliance with NZ IFRS ensures that the consolidated financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (‘IFRS’). The parent entity financial statements also comply with IFRS.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the trustees on 11 November 2011.

2.2 Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for the revaluation of certain non-current 
assets and financial instruments.

Cost is based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for assets.

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial information satisfies the 
concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions or other events is 
reported. 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with New Zealand Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 
(GAAP). They comply with New Zealand equivalents to International Financial reporting Standards (NZ IFRS) and other 
applicable financial reporting Standards. The financial statements have been prepared in New Zealand dollars, and have 
been rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars (000), apart from the schedule of Trustees and directors fees outlined in 
note 6 which is shown in whole dollars.

2.3 Adoption of New and Revised Standards and Interpretation 

NZ IAS 8 ‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’ requires that when an entity has not applied 
a new Standard or Interpretation that has been issued but is not yet effective, it shall make disclosures of the possible 
impact on its financial statements in the period of initial application. 

Te Runanga o N
gati Porou Annual Report 2011
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2011

The following are the new or revised Standards or Interpretations in issue that are not yet required to be adopted by the 
entity in preparing financial statements for periods ending on 30 June 2011. These standards are not likely to have a material 
impact on the financial statements.

Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective

Standard/Interpretation
Effective for annual 
reporting periods 

beginning on or after

Expected to be initially 
applied in the financial 

year ending
Amendments to NZ IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ 1 January 2011 30 June 2012
NZ IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014
*Revised NZ IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ (2010) 1 January 2013 30 June 2014
Amendments to NZ IFRIC 14 ‘Prepayments of a Minimum 
Funding Requirement’ 1 January 2011 30 June 2012

Improvements to New Zealand Equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards 2010
           -  Improvements to NZ IFRS 7, NZ IAS 1, NZ IAS 34 and NZ 
IFRIC 13

1 January 2011 30 June 2012

Amendments to NZ IAS 26 ‘Accounting and Reporting by 
Retirement Benefit Plans’ 1 April 2011 30 June 2012

Amendments to NZ IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ 1 July 2011 30 June 2012
Amendments to NZ IAS 12 ‘ Income Taxes’ - Deferred Tax: 
Recovery of Underlying Assets 1 January 2012 30 June 2013

Amendments to NZ IFRS 7 – Appendix E 1 April 2011 30 June 2012
NZ IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014
NZ IFRS 11 ‘Joint Arrangements’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014
NZ IFRS 12 ‘Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014
NZ IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014
NZ IAS 27 ‘Separate Financial Statements’ (revised 2011) 1 January 2013 30 June 2014
NZ IAS 28 ‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’ 
(revised 2011) 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

Amendments to New Zealand Equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards to Harmonise with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and Australian Accounting 
Standards

1 July 2011 30 June 2012

FRS 44 ‘NZ Additional Disclosures’ 1 July 2011 30 June 2012
Amendments to FRS 44 ‘NZ Additional Disclosures’ 1 July 2011 30 June 2012
Amendments to NZ IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ 
– Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income 1 July 2012 30 June 2013

Amendments to NZ IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

*the revised NZ IFRS 9 adds guidance on the classification and measurement of financial liabilities 
and derecognition of financial instruments. The effective date remains the same as the previous 
version of NZ IFRS 9, with earlier adoption permitted.
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2.4 Basis of Consolidation

Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements are prepared by combining the financial statements of all the entities that comprise 
the consolidated group, being Te Runanga o Ngati Porou (the parent entity) and its subsidiaries as defined in NZ IAS-27 
‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’. A list of subsidiaries appears in note 11 to the financial statements. 
Consistent accounting policies are employed in the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

On acquisition, the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at their fair values at the date of 
acquisition. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired is recognised as 
goodwill. If, after reassessment, the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired exceeds the cost of acquisition, the 
deficiency is credited to profit and loss in the period of acquisition.

The interest of minority shareholders is stated at the minorities proportion of the fair values of the assets and liabilities 
recognised.

The consolidated financial statements include the information and results of each subsidiary from the date on which Te 
Runanga o Ngati Porou obtains control and until such time as Te Runanga o Ngati Porou ceases to control the subsidiary.

Associates
Associates are those entities which Te Runanga o Ngati Porou has significant influence but no control over the operating 
policies.  The consolidated financial statements include Te Runanga o Ngati Porou’s share of the total recognised gains and 
losses of on an equity accounted basis for the date significant influences commences until the date significant influences 
cease.  Investments in associates are recorded using the equity method included in the groups financial statements.  Refer 
to note 12 for a list of the associates.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances and transactions, and unrealised profits 
arising within the consolidated group are eliminated in full.

2.5 Comparitive Information

The comparative’s are for 12 months and have been prepared on the same basis as 2010.

2.6 Goods and Services Tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except for receivables and 
payables which are recognised inclusive of GST. Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on an exclusive basis. 
The GST component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, 
the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows.

2.7 Revenue Recognition

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the consolidated group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks 
and rewards of ownership of the goods.

Rendering of services
Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract at the 
balance sheet date.

Dividend and interest revenue
Dividend revenue from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established. 
Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield on the financial asset. 
 

Te Runanga o N
gati Porou Annual Report 2011

47



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2011

2.8 Government Grants

Government grants are assistance by the government in the form of transfers of resources to the consolidated entity in 
return for past or future compliance with certain conditions relating to the operating activities of the entity. Government 
grants include government assistance where there are no conditions specifically relating to the operating activities of the 
consolidated entity other than the requirement to operate in certain regions or industry sectors.

Government grants relating to income are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the related 
costs. Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of 
giving immediate financial support to the consolidated entity with no future related costs are recognised as income of the 
period in which it becomes receivable.

Government grants relating to assets are treated as deferred income and recognised in profit and loss over the expected 
useful lives of the assets concerned.

2.9 Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs are capitalised and included as part of the qualifying asset. This is a change in accounting policy as previously 
they were recognised as an expense in the period in which they occurred. 

2.10 Taxation

Te Runanga O Ngati Porou and Group are registered with the Charities Commission and is exempt from Income Tax. 

2.11 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand; cash in banks and investments in money market instruments, net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts. 
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2.12 Financial Assets

Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract 
whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned. Investments are 
initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs except for those financial assets classified as fair value through profit 
or loss which are initially measured at fair value.

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair value through profit or loss’, 
‘held-to-maturity’ investments, ‘available-for-sale’ financial assets and ‘loans and receivables’. The classification depends on 
the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets in this category are either financial assets held for trading or financial assets designated as at fair value 
through profit or loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:
i. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or
ii. it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the consolidated group manages together and 

has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
iii. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

All derivatives entered into by the Group are classified as held for trading as the consolidated group does not apply hedge 
accounting. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss 
recognised in the income statement. The net gain or loss recognised in the income statement includes any dividend or 
interest earned on the financial asset. Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 25. The Group currently has 
no financial instruments in this category. 

Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity 
that the Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. These investments are recorded at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment, with revenue recognised on an effective interest basis. 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest 
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the 
financial asset. The Group currently has no financial instruments in this category. 

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or 
are not classified as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss. Certain shares held by the Group are classified as being available-for-sale and are stated at fair value. Fair value is 
determined in the manner described in note 25. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised directly 
in the available-forsale revaluation reserve, until the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which 
time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in the available-for-sale revaluation reserve is included in profit or 
loss for the period. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised separately in the income statement 
when the Group’s right to receive payment is established. The Group’s investment in Aotearoa Fisheries Limited (AFL) shares 
is recognised in this category.

Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method less any impairment. The Group’s trade receivables, loans and intercompany loans are recognised in this category. 
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Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance 
sheet date. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred 
after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The 
carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of 
trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is 
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. 

A trade receivable is deemed to be uncollectible upon notification of insolvency of the debtor or upon receipt of similar 
evidence that the Group will be unable to collect the trade receivable. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance 
account are recognised in the income statement. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases 
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed.

In respect of financial assets carried at amortised cost, with the exception of trade receivables, the impairment loss is reversed 
through the income statement to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed 
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised. Subsequent recoveries 
of trade receivables previously written off are credited against the allowance account. In respect of available-for-sale debt 
instruments, the loss is reversed through the income statement. In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, any 
subsequent increase in fair value after an impairment loss is recognised directly in equity.

2.13 Derivatives

The consolidated group has not entered into any derivative financial instruments as at 30 June 2011. Should the consolidated 
group enter into derivative financial instruments (eg foreign exchange contracts) derivatives will be initially recognised at fair 
value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured to their fair value at each reporting 
date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately. The Group has not adopted hedge accounting.

2.14 Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs, including an appropriate portion of fixed and 
variable overhead expenses, are assigned to inventory on hand by the method most appropriate to each particular class of 
inventory, with the majority being valued on a first in first out basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling 
price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. 

2.15 Biological assets

Biological assets relate to the group’s inventories in livestock (sheep and cattle) and a small forestry block owned and 
operated by the subsidiary Pakihiroa Farms Limited. Biological assets are stated at fair value less point-of-sale costs, with 
any change therein recognised in the Income Statement. 

Biological assets are recognised as an expense at the time of sale of livestock or the sale of the forestry block.
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2.16 Fishing Quota (Intangible Asset)

Fish quota has been recorded at fair value on recognition (Te Ohu Kaimoana allocation) with additional quota acquisitions 
recorded at cost. Fish quota is treated as an asset with an indefinite life and are not amortised and are carried at fair 
value less any impairment losses. Impairment losses are recognised whenever the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount. Fish quota is tested annually for impairment. The useful life is assessed annually to determine whether 
the indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable.

Quota shares are a property right that represents the quota owner’s share of a fishery.  These are tradeable rights and are 
issued in perpetuity and are a tool used to actively manage the fishery in a sustainable manner.  As a result the quota shares 
are not amortised.

2.17 Aotearoa Fishing Limited (AFL) Income Shares

The subsidiary company, Ngati Porou Seafoods Limited holds 9,366 shares or 7.49% of the income shares in Aotearoa 
Fisheries Limited. These income shares entitle Ngati Porou Seafoods Limited to receive a dividend from Aotearoa Fisheries 
Limited but these shares also contain a number of restrictions. These income shares are reviewed annually for impairment. 
Any difference in fair value is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

2.18 Property, Plant and Equipment

Land and buildings are measured at cost. Plant equipment and equipment under finance lease are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
item. In the event that settlement of all or part of the purchase consideration is deferred, cost is determined by discounting 
the amounts payable in the future to their present value as at the date of acquisition.

Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment, including freehold buildings but excluding land. Depreciation is 
calculated on a straight line basis so as to write off the net cost or of each asset over its expected useful life to its estimated 
residual value. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the period of the lease or estimated useful life, whichever is 
the shorter, using the diminishing value basis.  

The following depreciation rates have been used in the calculation of depreciation:

Buildings  2.5% to 4%
Plant and equipment 3% to 50%
Furniture and fittings 3% to 40%
Office equipment  10% to 40%
Motor vehicles  8% to 26%
Taonga   5% Te Runanga o N
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2.19 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

(i) Consolidated Entity as Lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net investment in 
the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the 
Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental Income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct 
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

In the event that lease incentives are paid to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as an asset. The 
aggregated cost of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental revenue on a straight-line basis, except where another 
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

(ii) Consolidated Entity as Lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised at their fair value or, if lower, at amounts equal to the present value 
of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. The corresponding liability to the lessor is 
included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and 
reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance 
charges are charged directly against income.  

Finance leased assets are amortised on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term, 
whichever is shorter.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another 
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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2.20 Impairment of Assets

At each reporting date, the consolidated entity reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, 
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where 
the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the consolidated entity estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Goodwill, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment 
annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. An impairment of goodwill is not subsequently 
reversed.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been 
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit 
or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating 
unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is 
carried at fair value, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

2.21 Payables

Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the consolidated entity becomes obliged to make future 
payments resulting from the purchase of goods and services.

2.22 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the consolidated group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, the future 
sacrifice of economic benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at 
reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.

Where a provision is measured using the cashflows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the 
present value of those cashflows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the 
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that recovery will be received and the amount of the receivable 
can be measured reliably.

Onerous contracts
An onerous contract is considered to exist where the consolidated group has a contract under which the unavoidable cost 
of meeting the contractual obligations exceed the economic benefits estimated to be received. Present obligations arising 
under onerous contracts are recognised as a provision to the extent that the present obligation exceeds the economic 
benefits estimated to be received.
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2.23 Employee Benefits

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, long service leave, and 
sick leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably.

Provisions made in respect of employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months, are measured at their nominal 
values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.  Provisions made in respect of employee 
benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 months are measured as the present value of the estimated future 
cash outflows to be made by the consolidated entity in respect of services provided by employees up to reporting date.

2.24 Financial Instruments Issued by the Company

Debt and equity instruments
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual arrangement. Debt is classified as current unless the Group has the unconditional right to defer settlement of 
the debt for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Interest and dividends
Interest and dividends are classified as expenses or as distributions of profit consistent with the balance sheet classification 
of the related debt or equity instruments.

Borrowings
Borrowings are recorded initially at fair value, net of transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, borrowings are 
measured at amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value being 
recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate 
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the borrowings, or where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the borrowings.

3. Significant Accounting Judgements, Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in 
relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenues and expenses. Management bases its judgements and estimates 
on historical experience and on various other factors it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of 
which form the basis of the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions.

Management has identified the following critical accounting policies for which significant judgements, estimates, and 
assumptions are made. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions and may 
materially affect the financial results or the financial position reported in future periods.

Further details of the nature of these assumptions and conditions may be found in the relevant notes to the financial 
statements.
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(a) Significant Judgements

Fish Quota and AFL Income Shares
On 31 March 2006, Te Ohu Kaimoana Trustee Limited (TOKM) approved Te Runanga o Ngati Porou mandated Iwi Organisation 
(MIO) status, and an allocation of fish quota, quota shortfall, cash, Aotearoa Fisheries Limited (AFL) shares and other cash 
was transferred. These assets were initially recognised by the consolidated group in 2007 at the following fair values. 

TOKM Allocation Assets Fair Value Recognition
NZ$’000

TOKM Allocation
Value March 2006

Discount
%

Cash and interest 1,174 1,174 -
Fish Quota 10,181 11,225 9%
AFL Income Shares 16,886 22,515 25%
Total 28,241 34,914

Fish Quota Consolidated Group
(Carrying Values as per note 15) 2011 2010

NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Allocation from TOKM Fair Value 10,181 10,181
Acquisitions at cost 7,300 7,300

17,481 17,481

The Board of the subsidiaries entities, the Ngati Porou Seafoods Group (incorporating Ngati Porou Seafoods Limited and 
Ngati Porou Fisheries Limited) in conjunction with the Trustees of Porou Ariki Trust undertook an annual review of the 
carrying values for impairment at 30 June 2011. 

Consistent with previous years, a combination of independent valuation reports were requested and discounted cash flow 
analysis (DCF) valuations were undertaken to review the carrying values for impairment as at 30 June 2011. On a DCF 
valuation basis, the fair value of the TOKM fish quota ($10.2M) was confirmed as appropriate given annual ACE lease 
revenue generated from this quota.

Independent valuations carried out by Quota Management Systems and DCF valuations undertaken on the additional quota 
acquisitions ($7.3M) confirmed this value to be in the upper quartile of the independent valuation reports and at the top 
end of the management DCF valuation adopting a 12.5% (2010: 11%) discount rate; an annual growth factor in earnings 
before interest and tax (EBIT) of 2.5% per annum and forecast EBIT on this quota of $1.4M to $2.0M between 2011 and 
2015. Management has projected cash flow over a five-year period.

AFL Income Shares Consolidated Group
(Carrying values as per note 16) 2011 2010

NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Fair value allocation from TOKM 16,886 16,886

Using a net tangible asset valuation methodology, the AFL income shares values upon allocation form TOKM were initially 
written down by $5.6 million (or 25%) to reflect the inability to generate returns to Ngati Porou until about 2010/11 and the 
various restrictions attached to these shares such as no voting rights and no ability to sell the income shares. 
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The Board of Ngati Porou Seafoods Group (incorporating Ngati Porou Seafoods Limited and Ngati Porou Fisheries Limited) 
in conjunction with the Trustees of Porou Ariki Trust undertook an annual review of the carrying value for impairment. Both 
parties were satisfied that the initial fair value recorded in 2007 ($16.9m) remains appropriate having reviewed Aotearoa 
Fisheries Limited (AFL) interim financial statements. 

Pakihiroa Farms Limited Livestock Valuations

Biological Assets Consolidated Group
(Carrying values as per note 14) 2011 2010

NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Sheep 1,243 642
Cattle 989 841
Total livestock at fair value 2,232 1,483
Forestry Block (Puanga) 70 70
Fair value allocation 2,302 1,553

Consistent with previous years, livestock has been valued at independent market fair values by PGG Wrightson Ltd as at 
30 June 2011. Movements in market value between the years, has been recognised in the income statement. The Forestry 
Block has been recognised at market value as at 1 July 2006 and an independent valuation for the forestry block will be 
sought in 2012. The potential impact of the change in value of the small forestry block was not deemed to have a material 
impact on the financial statements of the group.

(b) Significant Estimates and Assumptions

There are no other significant estimates or assumptions to report other than those outlined under significant judgements 
above.
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4. Profit from Operations

Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000
Revenue Includes:

Service delivery revenue:
• Government contracts 3,365 3,577 3,365 3,772
• Te Haeata Sub-Committee Funding 1,355 1,700 1,355 1,700

4,720 5,277 4,720 5,472

Commercial trading operations revenue:
• Gross Fishing ACE income 10 2,166 - -
• Gross Fishing Sales income 2,212 1,818 - -

Total External Fishing Income 2,212 3,984 - -
• Gross Farming Livestock income 1,229 872 - -

Total commercial trading operations revenue 3,441 4,856 - -

Rental Income:
External rental income - 79 - 62
Related party rental income - - 104 86

- 79 104 148

Expenses Includes:

Cost of sales from commercial trading activity
• Fishing ACE cost of sales 411 415 - -
• Fishing Sales cost of sales 969 1,373 - -

Total Fishing Cost of Sales  1,380 1,788 - -
• Farming Livestock cost of purchases (533) (50) - -

847 1,738 - -

Depreciation:
• Buildings 56 78 24 27
• Plant & Equipment 50 32 4 5
• Furniture & Fittings 9 6 7 4
• Office Equipment 65 73 51 50
• Motor Vehicles 41 9 10 10
• Taonga 14 15 14 15

235 213 110 111

Auditors remuneration (refer note 5) 79 70 44 44

Bad and doubtful debt 7 - 7 -

Directors Fees 83 93 - -

Grants and Distributions:
• Ngati Porou Marae Grants 288 150 288 150
• Other Ngati Porou Activities 59 46 45 46

347 196 333 196

Te Haeata Sub-Committee Costs 1,116 1,614 1,116 1,614

Trustee Fees 93 119 57 96
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5. Remuneration of Auditors
Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity

2011 2010 2011 2010
NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Auditor of the parent entity

Audit of the financial statements 79 70 44 44

Other non-audit services - - - -
79 70 44 44

The auditor of Te Runanga o Ngati Porou and all of its subsidiary entities is Deloitte (Hamilton Office). The Office of the 
Controller and Auditor-General appointed Bruno Dente of Deloitte to carry out the audit of the financial statements of the 
Trust Board and the Porou Ariki Trust has elected to appoint Deloitte to audit their group accounts.

Other than the audit of the financial statements, Deloitte have not provided any other professional services to Te Runanga 
o Ngati Porou and the group.

6. Key Governance Personnel Remuneration
Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity

2011 2010 2011 2010
NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Trustee Meeting Fees 
Te Runanga o Ngati Porou 58 73 57 96
Porou Ariki Trust 35 46 - -

93 119 57 96

Te Haeata Sub-Committee
Meeting fees 182 426 182 426

182 426 182 426

Subsidiary entities Directors Fees
Pakihiroa Farms Limited 9 15 - -
Ngati Porou Seafoods Group 74 78 - -

83 93 - -

Other remuneration (Professional Services)
Te Runanga o Ngati Porou (Refer Note 24) 3 93 - 93
Pakihiroa Farms Limited (Refer Note 24) - 33 - -
Ngati Porou Seafoods Group - - - -

3 126 - 93

Key governance personnel are defined as Trustees or Directors associated with entities within the Te Runanga o Ngati Porou 
group. Remuneration relates to Trustee and Director fees together with additional payments made to Trustees or Directors 
engaged to act as professional advisors.

Note 24, related party disclosures provides details of other remuneration (professional services) outlined in above.
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Trustees Fees Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

Trustee By Rohe NZ$ NZ$ NZ$ NZ$

Rohe One
Dr A Mahuika (Chairman) 5,000 20,856 5,000 20,856
P Tangaere 250 1,737 250 1,737
A Papuni 2,500 5,085 2,500 5,085
K Goldsmith 1,500 1,717 1,500 1,717

Rohe Two
S Parata (Deputy Chairman) 2,500 1,750 2,500 25,100
T Ngarimu - - - -
W Burdett 2,250 3,505 2,250 3,505
L Harrison 1,000 1,250 1,000 1,250
H McIlroy 2,250 2,135 2,250 2,135

Rohe Three
T Pewhairangi 2,500 1,833 2,500 1,833
N Raihania 2,500 3,063 2,500 3,063
M Whitehead 1,000 591 1,000 591
H Poutu 2,500 1,697 2,500 1,697
M Whatuira 2,000 1,291 2,000 1,291

Rohe Four
P Te Kani 500 1,487 500 1,487
Dr F Te Momo 1,250 1,250 1,250 1,250
J Weke 2,000 2,350 2,000 2,350
Other meeting fees 4,800 - 4,800 -

36,300 51,597 36,300 74,947
Chairman’s Honorarium (Dr A Mahuika) TRONP 21,274 21,274 21,274 21,274

57,574 72,871 57,574 96,221

Porou Ariki Trust (Responsible Trustees)

Dr A Mahuika (Chairman) 2,000 1,250 - -
P Tangaere - 857 - -
A Papuni 1,000 1,547 - -
K Goldsmith 250 750 - -
S Parata (Deputy Chairman) 1,150 1,000 - -
W Burdett 1,000 810 - -
L Harrison 750 1,000 - -
H McIlroy 900 1,360 - -
T Pewhairangi 1,000 1,000 - -
N Raihania 1,000 1,331 - -
M Whitehead 434 314 - -
H Poutu 900 1,193 - -
M Whatuira 750 629 - -
P Te Kani 500 1,950 - -
Dr F Te Momo 750 1,000 - -
J Weke 1,000 1,000 - -
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Trustees Fees Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
2011 2010 2011 2010
NZ$ NZ$ NZ$ NZ$

Porou Ariki Trust (Advisory Trustees)
W Wanoa 1,150 2,962 - -
J Johnston 750 1,375 - -
H Tawhiwhirangi 750 1,060 - -
T Warmenhoven 1,000 2,250 - -
K Ngarimu 750 2,695 - -
K Pewhairangi 1,000 2,053 - -
J Tuari 750 1,472 - -
Sub-Total Meeting Fees 19,534 30,858 -
Chairman’s Honorarium (Dr A Mahuika) PAT 15,000 15,000 - -
Total Porou Ariki Trustee Fees 34,534 45,858 - -

Te Haeata Meeting Fees Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
2011 2010 2011 2010
NZ$ NZ$ NZ$ NZ$

Marae, Whanau and Hapu Cluster Representatives
Cluster 1 -  R Kohere * 40,500 61,200 40,500 61,200
Cluster 2 - Dr A Mahuika (Chair) * 21,100 44,950 21,100 44,950
Cluster 3 – N Ihaka 18,820 30,600 18,820 30,600
Cluster 4 – L Smith * 10,700 29,400 10,700 29,400
Cluster 5 – S Parata (Deputy Chair)* 11,650 34,300 11,650 34,300
Cluster 6 – K Pewhairangi 11,850 31,400 11,850 31,400
Cluster 7 – T Walker 12,200 24,350 12,200 24,350
Runanga Representatives
R McLeod * 3,440 44,100 3,440 44,100
W Dewes * 17,293 67,944 17,293 67,944
H Te Koha * - 24,456 - 24,456
Negotiating Team Member
M Mahuika * 34,640 33,289 34,640 33,289

182,193 425,989 182,193 425,989

* These representatives are members of the Te Haeata negotiating team who meet more often than Cluster Representatives.
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Directors Fees Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
2011 2010 2011 2010
NZ$ NZ$ NZ$ NZ$

Ngati Porou Seafoods Group
W Dewes (Chairman) 20,000 20,000 - -
C Insley 14,500 14,500 - -
G Milner 14,500 14,500 - -
D Moana 14,500 14,500 - -
T Tangihaere 10,875 14,500 - -

74,375 78,000 - -
Pakihiroa Farms Limited
S Parata (Chairman) 2,200 6,920 - -
T Pewhairangi (Deputy Chair) 1,400 1,600 - -
W Burdett 1,400 1,600 - -
K Dewes - 1,200 - -
W Mackey 2,200 1,600 - -
L Rickard 1,600 1,600 - -
H Collier - - - -

8,800 14,520 - -

6b. Key Management Personnel Remuneration

Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000
Short term 645 523 420 304
Post employment 5 - 5 -
Other long term benefits - - - -

650 523 425 304

The number staff/key management personnel earning in excess of $100k is 2 (2010: 2).

7. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Cash at bank in operating accounts 569 1,415 809 1,703
Cash at bank on short-term deposit accounts 1,062 858 893 793

1,631 2,273 1,702 2,496
Bank balances overdrawn (18) (48) - -

1,613 2,225 1,702 2,496
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The primary group’s bankers are The ANZ Banking Group (ANZ) with subsidiary Pakihiroa Farms Limited banking with the 
Bank of New Zealand (BNZ). Surplus funds forecast not to be required for short-term operational requirements are invested 
in various short-term interest earning deposit accounts ranging from call accounts to 120-day term deposits.

The bank overdraft for the group at 30 June 2011 related to the Ngati Porou Seafoods Group overdraft facility with the ANZ 
Bank (overdraft interest rate of 10.40%) and  Pakihiroa Farms Limited overdraft facility with the BNZ Bank (overdraft interest 
rate of 7.80%). The bank overdraft for the group as at 30 June 2010 related to the Ngati Porou Seafoods Group overdraft 
facility with the ANZ Bank (overdraft interest rate of 9.69%).

8. Trade and Other Receivables

Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Trade receivables 2,072 1,138 1,085 1,032
Less allowance for doubtful debts - - - -
GST refund due/(payable) (189) (65) (110) (18)
Related party receivables - - - 97
Prepayments 71 35 27 12

1,954 1,108 1,002 1,123

Included below in the groups trade receivable balances are debtors with a carrying amount of $304,000 (2010:$461,000) 
which are past due at the reporting date for which the group has not provided as there has not been a significant change in 
credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The group does not hold any security over these balances.

Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000

60 – 90 days - 339 - 339
90 – 120 days 304 122 304 122
Total past due date 304 461 288 461

9. Inventories

Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Raw materials (fish supplies) 33 93 - -
33 93 - -
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10. Investments

Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000
Equity in Subsidiary Company
Pakihiroa Farms Limited - - 2,494 2,494
Other Investments 2 - - -

2 - 2,494 2,494

Te Runanga o Ngati Porou is the 100% shareholder in Pakihiroa Farms Limited. Refer note 24. The investment carrying value 
was reviewed for impairment as at 30 June 2011 and the value of the investment of $2.5M was considered appropriate.

Te Runanga o Ngati Porou has in the year ended 30 June 2011 made an investment of $500,000 into Ngati Porou Hauroa 
Incorporated, this investment has been written down to $0 in the financial year.

11. Subsidiaries

Name of subsidiary
Place of 

incorporation 
& operation

Ownership Interest 
and 

Voting Right Principal activity

2011 2010

Pakihiroa Farms Limited NZ 100% 100% Commercial farming operation

TRONP as Responsible 
Trustee
Porou Ariki Trust NZ 100% 100% Mandated Iwi Organisation for Fish Assets
Ngati Porou Seafoods Limited NZ 100% 100% Fish asset holding & corporate administration
Ngati Porou Fisheries Limited NZ 100% 100% Fish processing, distribution, wholesale & 

export, fish retail and food service
Ngati Porou Fisheries Ltd 
and Real Fresh Limited 
(Amalgamated into NPFL in 2011)

NZ - 100% Fish retail and food service

Pakihiroa Farms Limited (PFL)

PFL purchased the net farming assets (excluding Pakihiroa Station land and buildings) from Te Runanga o Ngati Porou on 
1 July 2006 at total market value of $2,493,658 with consideration paid to Te Runanga o Ngati Porou being shares for an 
equivalent value in PFL. PFL’s function is to manage the farming operations of Te Runanga O Ngati Porou as a separate 
commercial entity with an objective of providing dividends to the Shareholder. 

Porou Ariki Trust (PAT) and Related Commercial Operating Subsidiaries

PAT was set-up by Te Runanga o Ngati Porou on 23 March 2006. PAT was established to perform the functions of a Mandated 
Iwi Organisation (MIO) under the Maori Fisheries Act 2004 on behalf of Te Runanga o Ngati Porou – the Responsible Trustee. 
These functions primarily include receiving and holding settlement assets and establishing asset-holding companies.

Ngati Porou Seafoods Limited, Ngati Porou Fisheries Limited and Real Fresh Limited constitute the Ngati Porou Seafoods 
Group whose primary function is to receive the Te Ohu Kaimoana fishing allocation assets (quota and shares) to be managed 
in accordance with the Trust Deed of PAT and to also undertake the commercial fishing operations. The reporting date of all 
subsidiary entities is 30 June.
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12. Associated Entities 

The group has formed an alliance with 11 other  Iwi in the central North Island to manage their respective Annual Catch 
Entitlements (ACE) collectively.  These entities are deemed an associate of the Te Runanga o Ngati Porou.
Both entities commenced in October 2011, this is their first year of operation.

12a. General information
Ownership interests and 

voting rights
Name of Joint venture Place of incorporation Principal activity Balance Date 2011 2010

% %
ICP ACE Holdings
 Ltd partnership New Zealand Marketing fish quota 31 March 33 -

ICP Inshore ACE 
 Ltd partnership New Zealand Marketing fish quota 31 March 33 -

12b. Summary of financial information on Associate Entities (100%)

2011 Actual Assets
NZ $’000

Liabilities
NZ $’000

Equity
NZ $’000

Revenue
NZ $’000

Expenditure
NZ $’000

Profit/(loss)
NZ $’000

ICP ACE Holdings Ltd 1,193 1,193 - 4,668 4,668 -

ICP Inshore ACE Ltd 513 513 - 1,283 1,283 -

Total 1,706 1,706 - 5,951 5,951 -

The Ngati Porou Seafood’s Group obtain revenue from the associated entities.  In 2011 total revenue amounted to $1,446,677 (2010: nil)

13. Te Haeata 

Te Haeata is a sub-committee of Te Runanga O Ngati Porou that has the task of negotiating a settlement with the Crown for 
Treaty of Waitangi claims. Set out below is a summary of receipts and payments for the year ended 30 June 2011:

Te Haeata Expenditure Summary
Year Ended 30 June 2011
Income Summary

NZ$’000 NZ$’000
2011 2010

  
Grant/Contract Income 1,356 1,686
Other Income 1 15
Total Income 1,357 1,701
Expenditure Summary  
Meeting Expenses 36 52
Committee Fees 182 426
Travel & Accommodation 142 277
Legal Fees - 10
Accounting Fees 55 148
Other Professional Fees 198 379
Communication Costs 425 183
Administration 22 40
Other Expenses 56 100
Total Expenditure 1,116 1,615
Net Surplus 241 86

Ngati Porou’s settlement negotiations are totally funded by the Crown Forestry Rental Trust, and the Office of Treaty 
Settlements. Funding is provided based upon an approved business plan and achievement of specific milestones.
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14. Biological Assets

Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000
Pakihiroa Farms Ltd
Opening balance livestock
Sheep 7,083 (2010:7,341) 642 638 - -
Cattle 1,210 (2010:1,209) 841 766 - -

1,483 1,404 - -
Changes in balance due to numbers of livestock 493 2 - -
Changes in balance due to market values (holding gain) 258 77 - -
Closing balance livestock 2,234 1,483 - -
Made up of:
Sheep 7,841 (2010: 8,382) 1,244 642 - -
Cattle 1,235 (2010: 1,382) 990 841 - -

2,234 1,483 - -

Forestry block (Puanga Station) 70 70 - -
2,304 1,553 - -

Consistent with previous years, livestock has been valued at independent market fair values by PGG Wrightson Ltd at 30 
June 2011.

15. Fishing Quota

Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000
Ngati Porou Seafoods Group
Te Ohu Kaimoana quota allocation fair value 10,181 10,181 - -
Quota purchase on the open market at cost 7,300 7,300 - -

17,481 17,481 - -

During the year, the fishing quota values were reviewed for impairment. A combination of independent valuations and 
discounted cash flow (DCF) valuation methodologies were considered as part of the annual review of carrying values. The 
Board of Ngati Porou Seafoods Group together with the Trustees of Porou Ariki Trust were satisfied that the values as at 30 
June 2011 were not impaired. Refer to Note 3 on key significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions relating 
to the valuation of this fish quota.
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16. AFL Income Shares

Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000
Ngati Porou Seafoods Group
Aotearoa Fisheries Limited income shares 16,886 16,886 - -

16,886 16,886 - -

Ngati Porou Seafoods Limited hold 9,366 shares or 7.49% of the income shares in Aotearoa Fisheries Limited. These income 
shares entitle Ngati Porou Seafoods Ltd to receive a dividend from Aotearoa Fisheries Limited but these shares also contain 
a number of restrictions. Refer to Note 3 on key significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions relating to 
the valuation of these AFL income shares.

17. Property, Plant and Equipment

Consolidated Group

Land Buildings
Plant &

Equipment
Furniture
& Fittings

Office
Equipment

Motor
Vehicles

Taonga Total

NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Gross Carrying Amount
Balance at 1 July 2009 2,338 1,563 233 76 593 346 499 5,648
Additions 540 332 105 14 78 17 - 1,086
Balance at 30 June 2010 2,878 1,895 338 90 671 363 499 6,734
Additions 41 37 29 7 103 52 - 269
Disposals (20) (60) (25) (3) (30) (7) - (145)
Balance at 30 June 2011 2,899 1,872 342 94 744 408 499 6,858

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at 1 July 2009 - (471) (79) (36) (501) (259) (199) (1,545)
Depreciation Expense - (48) (38) (6) (72) (34) (15) (213)
Balance at 30 June 2010 - (519) (117) (42) (573) (293) (214) (1,758)
Depreciation Expense - (56) (50) (9) (65) (41) (14) (235)
Balance at 30 June 2011 - (575) (167) (51) (638) (334) (228) (1,993)

Net Book Value
30 June 2009 2,338 1,092 154 40 92 87 300 4,103
30 June 2010 2,878 1,377 221 48 98 70 285 4,976
30 June 2011 2,899 1,297 175 43 107 74 271 4,865
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TRONP Parent Entity
Plant & Furniture Office Motor

Land Buildings Equipment & Fittings Equipment Vehicles Taonga Total
NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Gross Carrying Amount
Balance at 30 June 2009 753 1,200 72 59 465 230 499 3,278
Additions - 2 - 13 56 (3) - 68
Balance at 30 June 2010 753 1,202 72 72 521 227 499 3,346
Additions - 27 - 3 71 24 - 125
Disposals (20) (60) - - - (7) - (87)
Balance at 30 June 2011 733 1,169 72 75 592 244 499 3,384

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at 30 June 2009 - (445) (33) (31) (395) (185) (200) (1,289)
Depreciation Expense - (26) (6) (4) (49) (11) (15) (111)
Balance at 30 June 2010 - (471) (39) (35) (444) (196) (215) (1,400)
Depreciation Expense - (24) (4) (7) (51) (10) (14) (110)
Balance at 30 June 2011 - (495) (43) (42) (495) (206) (229) (1,510)

Net Book Value
30 June 2009 753 755 39 28 70 45 299 1,989
30 June 2010 753 731 33 37 77 31 284 1,946
30 June 2011 733 674 29 33 97 38 270 1,874
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Valuations
The most recent rating valuations, completed by Landmass Technology Limited for the Gisborne District Council dated 1 
September 2008, are as follows

Land and Buildings Valuations Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity

2011 2010 2011 2010

NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Te Runanga o Ngati Porou 
Onepoto Road, Hicks Bay - 275 - 275
Barry Avenue, Ruatoria (TRONP) 194 194 194 194
Hekiera Road, Ruatoria (Whare Wananga) 333 333 333 333
144 Waiomatatini Road, Ruatoria (Tourism) 35 35 35 35
195 Wainui Road, Gisborne (Porou Ariki) 216 216 216 216
199 Wainui Road, Gisborne (Hamoterangi) 182 182 182 182
Pakihiroa Station (Title restrictions) 5,227 5,227 5,227 5,227

6,187 6,462 6,187 6,462
Pakihiroa Farms Limited
Puanga Station, Goodwin Road, Gisborne 1,670 1,670 - -
Total valuations land and buildings 7,857 8,132 6,187 6,462

Pakihiroa Station is recorded in the property, plant and equipment at the valuation at the date of settlement with the Crown. 
It is not the policy of Te Runanga o Ngati Porou to revalue this land as there are various restrictions to the title of this land 
as part of the settlement agreement. 

18. Trade and Other Payables
Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity

2011 2010 2011 2010
NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Trade creditors 783 1,369 554 1,047
Income in advance 62 89 62 89

845 1,458 616 1,136

19. Borrowings (Current)

Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity

2011 2010 2011 2010
NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Ngati Porou Fishing Ltd 92 76 - -
ANZ Banking Group (9.7%) 92 76 - -

Hire Purchase (Current Portion) 24 22 - -
116 98 - -
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20. Provisions
Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity

2011 2010 2011 2010
NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Opening balance 237 207 108 100
Additional provision recognised 255 237 158 108
Reduction in provision (237) (207) (108) (100)
Closing balance 255 237 158 108

The provision relates to employee entitlements, primarily annual leave entitlements. 

21. Non-Current Borrowings
Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity

2011 2010 2011 2010
NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Pakihiroa Farms Ltd
Bank of New Zealand (due 12/10/11 7.29%pa fixed 
interest only repayments) 600 600 - -
Bank of New Zealand (due 12/10/12 7.86%pa fixed 
interest only repayments) 300 300 - -
Bank of New Zealand (due 3/3/15 5.62%pa fixed 
interest only repayments) 95 99 - -
Ngati Porou Seafoods Ltd
ANZ Banking Group (due 9.45%pa fixed) 1,870 1,945 - -
ANZ Banking Group (due 7.99%pa floating) 195 - - -

3,060 2,944 - -
Hire Purchase liability 30 53 - -

3,090 2,997 - -
Less current portion transferred (refer note 19) (116) (98) - -
Total non-current borrowings 2,974 2,899 - -

(a) Assets Pledged as Security

The Bank of New Zealand loan is secured via a registered mortgage over Puanga Station (Goodwin Road, Gisborne). The 
carrying value of the assets pledged as security over Puanga Station is $1,670,000 as at 30 June 2011. The ANZ Banking 
Group loan is secured over the assets of the Ngati Porou Seafoods Group with cross guarantees between Ngati Porou 
Seafoods Limited and Ngati Porou Fisheries Limited. The carrying value of the assets pledged as security over Ngati Porou 
Seafoods Limited is $34,097,971 as at 30 June 2011.

(b) Defaults and Breaches

There have been no defaults or breaches of the banking covenants during the financial year.

(c) Fair value of borrowings

The fair value of borrowings as at 30 June 2011 is estimated at $3,599,618. 
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22. Reserves

Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Asset revaluation reserve 1,487 1,487 283 283
Capital reserve account – farms 1,216 1,216 1,216 1,216

2,703 2,703 1,499 1,499

(a) Asset Revaluation Reserve

The group reserve relates to the revaluation of Puanga Station – Gisborne, to market value (an increase of $1,205,000) 
upon the establishment of Pakihiroa Farms Ltd on 30 June 2006 prior to the farming assets (inclusive of Puanga Station – 
Gisborne) being transferred from Te Runanga o Ngati Porou to Pakihiroa Farms Ltd plus $283,000 relating to other asset 
revaluations within Te Runanga o Ngati Porou.

(b) Capital Reserve Account - Farms

This reserve relates to the valuation of Pakihiroa Station at the date of settlement when it was returned to Te Runanga o 
Ngati Porou from the Crown. It is not the policy of Te Runanga o Ngati Porou to revalue this land given the various restrictions 
associated with the title of this land.

23. Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000
Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net operating profit/(loss) per income statement 1,318 909 (517) 21
Non Cash Items:
Depreciation and amortisation 235 212 110 111
Impairment of asset 500 - 500 -

735 212 610 111
Add movements in Working Capital
(Increase)/Decrease in Sundry
Debtors & Prepayments (1,172) (124) (175) (169)
(Increase)/Decrease in Livestock (751) (79) - -
(Increase)/Decrease in Inventory 59 (50) - -
(Decrease)/Increase in Creditors (268) 51 (175) 306

(2,132) (202) (350) 137

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) (79) 9919 (257) 269
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24. Related Party Disclosures

(a) Parent Entity – Te Runanga o Ngati Porou

Details of subsidiaries of Te Runanga o Ngati Porou are reported under note 11. Details of associates of the group are 
reported under note 12.  Details of key governance personnel remuneration are also reported separately under note 6. 

(b) Transactions with Related Parties

Transactions involving the parent entity – Te Runanga o Ngati Porou
During the financial year, Te Runanga o Ngati Porou recorded the following transactions with related parties:

Revenue Received From Porou Ariki Trust Group Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000
Administration Grant - - 13 25
Other grants and funding - - - 196
Dividend - - 282 -
ICP ACE Holdings Ltd - Quota 1,056 - - -
ICP ACE Inshore Ltd - Quota 391 - - -

1,447 - 295 221
Payments made to Porou Ariki Trust Group
No transactions noted for the year - - - -

Liabilities owing to Porou Ariki Trust Group
Porou Ariki Trust - - 33 -

Receivables owing from Porou Ariki Trust Group

Ngati Porou Fisheries Limited 32 2 - -
Real Fresh Limited - 1 - -
ICP ACE Holdings Ltd - Quota 605 - - -
ICP ACE Inshore Ltd - Quota 173 - - -

810 3 - -

Revenue Received From Pakihiroa Farms Ltd
Dividend - - 60 10
Lease for Pakihiroa Station (market value) - - 80 81
Interest on shareholder loan (10%) - - - 14

- - 140 105
Payments made to Pakihiroa Farms Ltd
No transactions noted for the year - - - -

Liabilities owing to Pakihiroa Farms Ltd
No transactions noted for the year - - - -

Receivables owing from Pakihiroa Farms Ltd
No transactions noted for the year - - - -
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(c) Key Governance Personnel Remuneration
Details of key governance and management personnel remuneration are disclosed in note 6 of the financial statements. 
Outlined below are the transactions where Te Runanga o Ngati Porou has made payment for professional services to either 
a trustee or Director or a close member of the family of a key management personnel.

Professional Services Provided by Related Parties Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
(Trustees and/or close Family Members) 2011 2010 2011 2010

NZ$000 NZ$000 NZ$000 NZ$000
Te Runanga o Ngati Porou:
Kahui Legal           - Te Haeata 35 33 35 33
                               - Legal advice 188 96 153 77
M Ihaka                 - Te Haeata 20 9 18 9
H  Ihaka                 - Te Haeata 18 - 18 -
 261 138 224 119

M Mahuika is defined as a close family member (son) under NZ IAS 24.9 (Related Party Disclosures) with respect to the 
Chairman of Te Runanga o Ngati Porou. As a partner of Kahui Legal, M Mahuika received payments from Te Haeata, a sub-
committee of Te Runanga o Ngati Porou as a member of a negotiating team and payments directly from Te Runanga o Ngati 
Porou and the Ngati Porou Seafoods Group for the provision of professional legal advice. 

M Ihaka is defined as a close family member (son) under NZ IAS 24.9 (Related Party Disclosures) with respect to Ned 
Ihaka, a member of the Te Haeata sub-committee of Te Runanga o Ngati Porou, and received payment for research services 
performed for Te Haeata.

H Ihaka is defined as a close family member (daughter in law) under NZ IAS 24.9 (Related Party Disclosures) with respect to 
Ned Ihaka, a member of the Te Haeata sub-committee of Te Runanga o Ngati Porou, and received payment for data base 
research and help desk support performed for Te Haeata.

Professional Services Provided by Related Parties Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
(Directors) 2011 2010 2011 2010

NZ$ NZ$ NZ$ NZ$

Pakihiroa Farms Limited:
Agfirst NZ Limited 63 33 - -

63 33 - -

The above services provided by Directors of Pakihiroa Farms Limited relate to Farm Supervisory and Administration 
support to the Company. H Collier is a Director of Agfirst NZ Limited. These professional services were provided on 
standard commercial terms and conditions. 

These inter-company advances and loans have been eliminated on the consolidation of the group accounts. 

The related party receivables are arms length transactions on standard terms and conditions as for other creditors, with 
payment due on 20th of the month following the month that the accounts are sent. 

During the financial year, Te Runanga o Ngati Porou advanced to Ngati Porou Haurora, $500k.  This money although 
considered an investment in the Haurora, has been written down to $0, in the 2011 year, as it is not considered by the 
Trustees of Te Runanga o Ngati Porou to be a recoverable amount.  It is anticipated the Ngati Porou Hauroa will come 
under the ownership of the new organisation Te Runanganui o Ngati Porou.
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25. Financial Instruments

(a) Financial Instruments and Management Objectives
The group are party to a number of financial instruments as part of normal operations. The group does not enter into or 
trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes. 

The group activities expose it primarily to the financial risks associated with interest rates (on both term deposits and 
borrowing) with foreign currency exchange rate risk forecast to be an area to address during 2011 from the group fisheries 
export sales plans.
The financial instruments utilised by the group include:

• Short-term deposits for surplus funds
• Fixed interest rate borrowing for some debt
• Variable interest rate borrowing for some debt

There have been no changes to these risk management objectives during the year.

(b) Significant Accounting Policies
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, and the basis of 
measurement applied in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in 
note 2 to the financial statements. 

(c) Foreign Currency Risk Management
The group has only begun to export and is developing its forward foreign exchange (hedging) policy. There are no foreign 
currency hedges or swaps in place as at 30 June 2011 (2010: nil) There are no assets domiciled in foreign currency as at 30 
June 2011 (2010: nil).

(d) Interest Rate Risk Management
The group is exposed to interest rate risk as it borrows funds at both fixed and floating rates. This risk is managed by 
maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate borrowing. The group has not entered into the use of 
interest rate swap contracts or forward interest rate contracts as at 30 June 2011 (2010:nil)

(e) Credit Risk Management
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
consolidated group. The group has adopted a policy of checking the creditworthiness of counterparties it deals with as a 
means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults.

Trade accounts receivables consist of a range of customers and parties, spread across a number of diverse industries 
(Crown through individuals) with the vast majority of customers and parties New Zealand based.

With the exception of the Crown/Government for various service delivery contracts, the consolidated group does not have 
any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty.

(f) Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements approximates fair value. 

i. Cash and cash equivalents – refer note 7. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at cost.

ii. Trade and other receivables – refer note 8. Trade and other receivables are carried at cost and reviewed annually 
for impairment and collectability. The carrying value is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

iii. Trade and other payables – refer note 18. Trade and other payables are carried at cost. The carrying value is a 
reasonable approximation of fair value.

iv. Borrowings – refer notes 19 and 21. Borrowings are carried at cost. The fair value is estimated at $3,599,618 as at 
30 June 2011.
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v. AFL income shares – refer note 3 and note 16. AFL income shares are carried at fair value and reviewed annually 
for impairment. AFL income shares have a fair value measurement derived from valuation techniques that include 
inputs for the asset that are not based upon market data. There were no gains or losses in fair value during the year. 

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair 
value , grouped into levels 1 to 3 based upon the degree to which fair value is observable:

• Level 1 fair value measurements those derived from quoted prices(unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e.as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or 
liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Consolidated Group Consolidated Group
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000
Available for sale financial assets - - -  -
Shares - - 16,886 16,886

- - 16,886 16,886

TRONP Parent Entity TRONP Parent Entity
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000
Available for sale financial assets - - -  -
Shares - - - -

- - - -

There were no transfers between level 1 and 2 during the period.

AFL Shares Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
2011 2010 2011 2010

NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000
Balance at beginning of year 16,886 16,886 - -
Gains/(Losses) in profit and loss - - - -
Gains/(Losses) in comprehensive income - - - -
Purchases - - -  -
Issues - - - -
Settlements - - - -
Transfers Into Level 3 - - - -
Transfers out of Level 3 - - - -
Balance at end of year 16,886 16,886 - -

There were no gains or losses for the period included in the statement of comprehensive income. 
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(g) Capital Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the group will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The overall strategy of the 
group has remained unchanged from 2010. The capital structure of the group consists of debt, which includes borrowings 
disclosed in note 19 and 21, cash and cash equivalents disclosed in note 7.

(h) Liquidity Risk Management

The consolidated group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves banking facilities and by regularly 
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows. 

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities of the consolidated groups’ non-derivative financial 
liabilities. The amounts are the cashflows of the financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the group can be 
required to pay amounts. 

Consolidated Group 2011
Note Int rate Less than  

1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5+ years Total

Financial Liabilities
Bank Overdrafts 7 9.69% 18 - - -  18
Trade and other payables 18 0% 783 - - - 783
Borrowings 19, 21 7.61% 129 1,198 2,273 - 3,600
Total Financial Liabilities  930 1,198 2,273 - 4,401

Consolidated Group 2010
Note Int rate Less than  

1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5+ years Total

Financial Liabilities
Bank Overdrafts 7 9.45% 48 - - -  48
Trade and other payables 18 0% 1,369 - - - 1,369 
Borrowings 19, 21 8.00% 863 543 2,095 80 3,581 
Total Financial Liabilities  2,280 543 2,095 80 4,998
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TRONP Parent 2011
Int rate Less than  

1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5+ years Total

Financial Liabilities
Bank Overdrafts 7 n/a - - - - -
Trade and other payables 18 0% 554 - - - 554
Borrowings 19, 21 n/a - - - - - 
Total Financial Liabilities 554 - - - 554

TRONP Parent 2010
Int rate Less than  

1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5+ years Total

Financial Liabilities
Bank Overdrafts 7 n/a - - - - -
Trade and other payables 18 0% 1,047 - - - 1,047 
Borrowings 19, 21 n/a - - - - - 
Total Financial Liabilities 1,047 - - - 1,047 

(i) Market risk

The consolidated groups’ activities are exposed primarily to changes in interest rates – both interest rates on surplus funds placed 
on short-term deposits and movement in interest rates on its borrowing facilities. The group currently manages this risk primarily 
through entering into fixed interest rate agreements for its term borrowings and floating interest rates on its overdraft facilities. The 
consolidated group has not entered into any interest rate swap contracts as at 30 June 2011 (2010: nil)
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(j) Categories of financial instruments

The following table list the groups’ financial assets and liabilities by category of financial instrument. Details of the criteria 
for recognition and methods used to account for the different categories of financial assets and liabilities are detailed in 
the accounting policies in Note 2. The table below lists the groups of financial assets and liabilities by category of financial 
instrument.

Consolidated Group 2011 Loans &
receivables

Available- 
for-sale

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost

Investments 
carried at cost Total

Note NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 1,613 - - - 1,613
Trade and other receivables 8 2,072 - - - 2,072
AFL Income Shares 16 - 16,886 - - 16,886 
Total Financial Assets 3,685 16,886 - - 20,571
Non-Financial Assets 24,567
Total Assets 45,138 

Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables 18 - - 783 - 783
Borrowings 19,21 - - 3,090 - 3,090
Total Financial Liabilities - - 3,873 - 3,873
Non-Financial Liabilities 317 
Total Liabilities 4,190

Consolidated Group 2010 Loans &
receivables

Available- 
for-sale

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost

Investments 
carried at cost Total

Note NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 2,225 - - - 2,225 
Trade and other receivables 8 1,138 - - - 1,138 
AFL Income Shares 16 - 16,886 - - 16,886 
Total Financial Assets 3,363 16,886 - - 20,249 
Non-Financial Assets 24,073 
Total Assets 44,322 

Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables 18 - - 1,369 - 1,369 
Borrowings 19,21 - - 2,997 - 2,997
Total Financial Liabilities - - 4,366 - 4,366 
Non-Financial Liabilities 326 
Total Liabilities 4,692 
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TRONP Parent 2011 Loans & 
receivables

Available-for-
sale

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost

Investments 
carried at cost Total

Note NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 1,702 - - - 1,702
Trade and other receivables 8 1,085 - - - 1,085
Total Financial Assets 2,787 - - - 2,787
Non-Financial Assets 4,285 
Total Assets 7,072

Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables 18 - - 554 - 554
Total Financial Liabilities - - 554 - 554
Non-Financial Liabilities 220 
Total Liabilities 774

TRONP Parent 2010 Loans & 
receivables

Available-for-
sale

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost

Investments 
carried at cost Total

Note NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 2,496 - - - 2,496 
Trade and other receivables 8 1,032 - - - 1,032 
Total Financial Assets 3,528 - - -  3,528
Non-Financial Assets 4,531 
Total Assets 8,059 

Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables 18 - - 1,047 - 1,047 
Total Financial Liabilities - - 1,047 - 1,047 
Non-Financial Liabilities 197 
Total Liabilities 1,244 
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26. Business Activity Support Information

Business Activity Revenues

External Sales Other Total
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Government Contracts (TRONP) 4,720 5,472 1,299 468 6,019 5,940
Farming (PFL) 1,229 872 164 30 1,393 902
Share of revenue from an associate entity 1,447 - - - 1,447 -
Fishing (PAT) 2,211 3,954 1,015 947 3,226 4,901
Total of all Business Activities 9,607 10,298 2,478 1,445 12,085 11,743
Eliminations (852) (377)

Consolidated group revenue 11,233 11,366

Business Activity Results

2011 2010
NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Continued Operations:
Government Contracts (TRONP) (517) 21
Farming (PFL) 925 35
Fishing (PAT) 1,253 903

1,661 959
Eliminations (343) (50)
Profit/(loss) for the period 1,318 909

Business activity assets and liabilities

Assets Liabilities
2011 2010 2011 2010

NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Government Contracts (TRONP) 7,071 8,058 784 1,243
Farming (PFL) 4,274 3,365 1,157 1,131
Fishing (PAT) 36,356 35,490 2,318 2,450

47,701 46,913 4,259 4,824
Eliminations (2,563) (2,591) (69) (132)
Consolidated group 45,138 44,322 4,190 4,692
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Products and services within each business activity

The principal products and services of each of these divisions are as follows:
• Government Contracts (TRONP) the delivery of a range of services under contract to the 

government and Crown departments to the Iwi of Ngati 
Porou and various other Iwi initiatives

• Farming (PFL) the farming operation of PFL operating across Pakihiroa 
Station (Ruatoria) and Puanga Station (Gisborne)

• Fishing (PAT) the ownership and operation of the Iwi fishing assets 
following allocation from Te Ohu Kaimoana and post 
settlement acquisition. 

• ICP ACE Holdings Ltd and ICP Inshore ACE Ltd the group has formed an alliance with 11 other  Iwi in                     
the central North Island to manage their respective Annual 
Catch Entitlements (ACE) collectively.  These entities are 
deemed an associate of the Te Runanga o Ngati Porou.
Both entities commenced in October 2011, this is their first 
year of operation.

27. Commitments for Expenditure

Te Runanga o Ngati Porou and the group do not have any material commitments for expenditure as at 30 June 2011 (2010: Nil).

Operating lease commitments Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
2011 2010 2011 2010
NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Operating lease commitments payable:
With one year 285 312 74 91
Between two and five years 182 956 56 382
Later than 5 years - - - -

467 1,268 130 473

The group has lease commitments for the properties at 47, 51, 53, 55 and 57 The Esplanade, Gisborne, until June 2012, with 
the right of renewal, and a review of the rental due in June 2012. Also the group leases approximately 15 motor vehicles 
including a truck and a forklift, with terms of up to 3 years. There are no options to purchase at the end of the term, with 
no provision for increase in rental charges. The group leases 6 photocopiers with terms of up to four years, with a right of 
review after 2 years. There is no right to purchase at the end of the lease term.

Operating lease receivables Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
2011 2010 2011 2010
NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Operating lease commitments payable:
With one year - - 80 80
Between two and five years - - 320 320
Later than 5 years - - - -

- - 400 400

Te Runanga O Ngati Pakihiroa Porou owns and leases the land at Pakihiroa Station to Pakihiroa Farms at a market rental. The 
rental is for five years with right of renewal in 2013, and a review of the rental is due in 2013. There is no option for Pakihiroa 
Farms to purchase the property.
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28. Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

Te Runanga o Ngati Porou and the group has agreed to guarantee the provision of funding to Ngati Porou Hauora Incorporated by the 
ANZ Banking Group NZ Ltd.  This agreement is accompanied by a right of set off granted by the Runanga to ANZ Banking Group NZ Ltd 
over the funds held by the Runanga in ANZ Banking Group NZ Ltd accounts and a further agreement to hold $1m in a deposit with ANZ 
Banking Group NZ Ltd (2010: Nil).

29. Finance lease liabilities

Operating lease receivables Consolidated Group TRONP Parent Entity
2011 2010 2011 2010
NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000 NZ$’000

Not later than one year 24 22 - -
Later than one year and not later than five year’s 7 30 - -
Later than 5 years - - - -

31 52 - -
Less future finance charge - - - -

31 52 - -

There was no contingent lease payments made during the year.  There are no restrictions imposed by the lessor relating to 
additional debt, other leasing arrangements or any other payments (including payments to shareholders).

The fair value of lease liabilities is approximately equal to their carrying amount.

30. Subsequent Events

Direct Negotiations of Historical Ngati Porou Treaty Claims
As reported last year, Te Haeata (Ngati Porou Treaty Settlements Hapu Sub-Committee) continued work with the Crown to 
reach an agreement on a comprehensive settlement package of all historic Ngati Porou Treaty claims. 

Negotiations continue and Te Haeata aims to have a draft Deed of Settlement negotiated with the Crown by the start of 
October 2011, which will then be presented to Ngati Porou for ratification. 

Funding for the work of Te Haeata has been provided by the Crown Forestry Rental Trust (CFRT) and the Office of Treaty 
Settlements (OTS) and further funding has been negotiated for Phase Three of negotiations which continues post 30 June 2011.

Te Runanga o Ngati Porou, will settle it assets into a new entity called Te Runananui o Ngati Porou once the settlement of the 
Treaty claim is finalised.  It is anticipated this will occur in the nest 12 months.

Te Runanganui o Ngati Porou has invested $500k into Ngati Porou Hauroa, it is anticipated the Runanga will take over the 
running of the Ngati Porou Hauroa in the next 12 months.
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Kaihautu   
Monty Soutar
Victor Walker

Chief Finance Officer  
Russell Snow

Senior Managers
Kaiwhakahaere Matauranga  Lilian Baldwin
Kaiwhakahaere Whanau Oranga Anne Huriwai

Corporate Services
Corporate Services Manager  Meredith Ruru
Chairman PA/Board Administrator Albie McFarlane
PA to CEO   Taimania Rickard
EA to CEO/Special projects  Sarah Pohatu
Finance Manager   Ngarangi Bidois
Finance/Administrator  Makere Kaa
Accounts    Jason McKelvie
Project Accountant   Anthony Lee
Accounting Administrator  Kushla Allen
Accounting Administrator  Doreen Beck
Accounting Administrator  Tracy Thompson
Administrator Receptionist  Kotiro Korau
Receptionist/Cleaner  Katherine Tuhaka
Receptionist   Lena Lyttle
Receptionist   Adelaide Tehei
Relieving Receptionist  Hiraina Morice
Cleaner    Aaron Horsfield
Cleaner    Phillipa Tako
Caretaker    Kerry Johnston
Building & Maintenance  Rupena Brown
IT Technician   Stan Baldwin

Economic Development
Tourism/Youth Co-ordinator  Paora Brooking

Matauranga
Education Strategy Manager  Karen Pewhairangi
Kaitautoko Matauranga  Leeanne Morice
Te Rangitawaea Co-ordinator  Jasmine Kaa
PAFT Co-ordinator   Tania Chaney
Project Co-ordinator  Hiria Shaw

Foreshore and Seabed
FSSB Project Manager  Agnes Walker
FSSB Administrator   Isobel Solomon

Whanau Oranga
Kaiarahi    Malcolm Brown
Kaiarahi    Josie Tangaere
Kaiarahi - Whanau Oranga  Diana Neru
Kaiako    Huhana Tuhaka
Housing Co-ordinator  Heather Wanoa
Receptionist   Amy Kururangi
Te Whae Atawhai/EC Truancy  Mary-Anne Crawford
Te Whae Atawhai Kaiawhina  Cheryl Honey
Kaitataki/Whanau Advocate  Riria Fox
Budget Advisor   Judith Kururangi
East Coast Budget Advisor  Frances Grant
CIPP Kaitakawaenga  Monty Manuel
Counsellor   Martin Hiha
SWIS Kaiti   Rawinia Soulis
SWIS Kaiawhina   Trisha Hina
Kaitataki ISS/ Kaiawhina RJ  Robyn Smith
Kaiawhina   Julliet Lardelli
Kaiawhina   Ngawiki Te Kani
Kaiawhina   Arwen Sadlier
Kaiawhina   Terendak Keelan
Kaiawhina   Sonja Laga`aia
Kaiawhina   Lisa Walker
KaiaWhina   Tiana Hongara
Kaiawhina - Whanau Support  Aroha Shields
Kaiawhina - Attendance  Melanie Glover
Kaiawhina - Attendance  Karen Hollis
Kaiawhina - Attendance  Laurie Sadlier
Kaiawhina - Attendance  Colin Taare
Kaiawhina - Attendance  Kim Torrez
Kaiawhina - Te Whae Atawhai  Connie Henare
Kaiawhina - Te Whae Atawhai  Marina Ngatai
Kaiawhina - Tuhono Whanau  Janine Kilburn
Kaiawhina - WWW Oranga Service Rawiri Wanoa
Kaiawhina - Strengthening Families/PAFT
    Roimata Mangu
Strengthening Familes  Rimini Moana
Kaiwhakarite   Sharyne Tuari
Whanau Advocate   Reihana Tipoki
Whanau Support Worker  Jean Sinoti
Kaitoko Whanau Worker  Janine Peters
Nga Reo Tautoko   Rua Tipoki
Kaitakawaenga   Matekino Tuhura
Kaitakawaenga   Leone Roberts
Kaimahi Nga Reo Tautoko  Michael Timu

NB: includes staff who were employed for only part of 
the financial year.

Staff Directory
1st July 2010 - 30th June 2011
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In its annual reports the Runanga endeavours to document 
popular Ngati Porou haka and waiata for posterity. Featured 

throughout this report are the compositions of Henare 
Waitoa, one of Ngati Porou’s most prestigious composer’s in 
modern times.

This year his whanau released a CD that showcases Henare’s 
musical and lyrical genius, as well as the gift of music inherited by 
his mokopuna - Kahu Waitoa. Kahu led the project reproducing 
his Papa’s work with love, expertise and passion. These 
recordings will be a treasure for future generations.

Henare Waitoa was born 13 April 1910 to Wiparaire Rangihuna of 
Te Araroa and Te Waipaira Nepia of Nuhaka (Ngati Rakaipaaka). 
Waipaira was a cousin to George Nepia. When Henare was born 
Hone Waitoa, a practicing Anglican Minister in Te Araroa, and 
Ani Coplen adopted him. Hone Waitoa’s father was the first 
Maori to be ordained in the Anglican Church.

Henare attended Te Aute College for two years, In 1931 he 
married Amiria (Minnie) Karaka and they eventually settled in 
Tikitiki (1936). Henare and Amiria had the following children: 
Tunohoa, Te Wai, Annie, Wiparaire, Kaira Nepia, Enoka Potae 
and Rutene.

Henare’s compositions are still performed often throughout 
Ngati Porou and even beyond the East Coast.

Henare Waitoa

Amiria and Henare Waitoa
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